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Our new store is a reflection not just of our innovative spirit, but also our belief in the future and our respect
and commitment to our customers and the next generation of jewellery lovers.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
HBHME(E)

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended ended ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HZE2025%F | BZE2024%F  HE2023F HE20224 HZE2021F
38318 3A31A 3A3R 3A31A 3A31A
IHEE IEFE IFFE IFFE IEFE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (HK$’M
FEBRBER(B¥EER)
Turnover = - 1,712 2,655 2,591 2,768 2,649
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AT (EiE) (166) (348) 47 61 O]
Profit/(loss) for the year REFERF(EE) (198) (374) 72) 15 (44)
Profit/(loss) attributable to AR FHEE ARELEF]
owners of the company (&) (198) (374) an 16 (44)
PER SHARE (HK$)
SR (GBx)
Earnings/(loss) &3,/ (B18) (0.79) (1.50) (0.29) 0.06 (0.18)
Dividend A& 8 Nil Nil Nil 0.020 Nil
Dividend payout ratio R B H R Nil Nil Nil 32% Nil
Net assets attributable to AARIHEEAEIEFEAE
owners of the Company 1.42 2.22 3.59 4.21 3.78
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (HK$’M)
REMBERRR GB¥EER)
No. of shares ("M Shares) RS (BEBR) 249 249 249 249 249
Total equity BT 353 553 893 1,048 942
Borrowings B 732 1,076 1174 920 989
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFLEEY 129 180 348 355 379
Net gearing ratio FEERE 154% 109% 51% 17% 31%
Market capitalisation A 174 212 336 262 209







CORPORATE INFORMATION
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual report and consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”). It is
my pleasure to report that the net loss, albeit still below par, has been greatly
reduced by 47% against that of the previous financial year.

It was indeed another challenging year not only for the jewellery retail industry
but also for many other retail categories or sectors in Hong Kong. Considering
the overall retail sales performance of Hong Kong during 2024, after signs of
regaining momentum were shown in 2023, it started to decline and has been
staying at a low level comparable to that during the pandemic since April
2024. Evidently, the increasing northbound or outbound travels of Hong Kong
residents together with the drastically changed consumption behavior of visitors
from the Mainland have been the major factors. Apart from these domestic
issues, the continuing global economic instability brought by various issues
especially those after the inauguration of the current sovereignty of the United
States has been hindering the recovery or development of many businesses all
over the world. Even the Southeast Asian markets which have been performing
positively were not immune from the recent impact. Nevertheless, the economy
of the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") has demonstrated resilience because
of the unwavering stance of the Central People’s Government of the PRC in
dealing with global crisis such as the US-China trade war. Moreover, with the
new policies favourable to the retail market development of the Mainland
recently announced by the Central People’'s Government of the PRC, | believe
that the worst has been seen. Time, patience and relentless effort are what we
need further for the positive outcome to be accomplished.

Notwithstanding the above lingering uncertainties, the Group continues to spare
no effort in transforming its business model which was started in the second half
of FY23/24. During the Year, we continued to revamp the product assortment
and invest in the 24-karat gold inventory store by store to satisfy the changing
consumer needs, after which impressive sales improvement could be observed
for the revamped stores despite the negative impact on the 24-karat gold
product demand brought by the record-breaking gold price during the Year.
In addition, on the sales network development, according to the strategic
direction set in the previous financial year, we executed the strategies by
actively engaging a number of Provincial Franchisees during the Year for rapid
network expansion through second-tier franchising in years to come. It was
encouraging to receive positive feedback from franchisees and end customers
on the transformed business model, which was a resounding endorsement for
our business turnaround strategies. Together with the significant cost saving
achieved with full-year effect to be realised sooner or later, | am confident that
the profitability of the Group will continue to improve over time.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

BBR & (E)

During the Year, |, as the Chairman & CEO of the Group, continue to serve the
retail community and others of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of People’s Republic of China (“HKSAR”) and Hainan Province. My continuous
effort in leading the retail industry of Hong Kong has brought me to serve other
sectors or fields such as tourism and environmental sustainability. Moreover, in
the field of education, | was recently invited to serve The Education University
of Hong Kong as a member of the Advisory Group on Entrepreneurship and
Industry Engagement. In a broader spectrum, | was appointed as a Justice of
the Peace by the Chief Executive of HKSAR on 1 July 2024, which has enabled
me to look into the well-being of non-commercial sectors. With full support
from the Group, | will persist in serving various communities and the public
wholeheartedly and diligently.

As a final note, | would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to my fellow
directors for their dedication and guidance provided to the Group throughout
the Year. On behalf of the Board, our sincere gratitude goes to all staff members,
business partners, loyal customers and other stakeholders for their invaluable
support and unwavering trust. Moving forward, the Group is committed to
generating sustainable returns for our shareholders and achieving long-term
business growth.

Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OVERVIEW

The business environment continued to be challenging to the Group for the
Year. The worldwide geopolitical tension, persisting high financing costs and
record-breaking gold price had greatly affected the consumers’ spending
behavior and market sentiment throughout the Year. The recovery of global
luxury retail market, especially in the Mainland and Hong Kong, was very slow.
The Group observed persistently weak demand for natural diamond jewellery
products over the past year. Combined with the effect of continuous sales
network adjustments through the closure of loss-making self-operated stores,
the Group’s turnover decreased by approximately 35.5% to HK$1,712.3 million for
the Year, as compared to HK$2,654.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.

In addition to the softening demand of natural diamond jewellery, the sales
momentum of 24-karat gold products was impacted by the rapid rise in gold
price during the Year. Despite these unfavorable factors, the Group continued to
increase the 24-karat gold inventory during the Year in order to achieve optimal
inventory mix that supports the current market demand. Moreover, the Group
recorded an improvement of gross profit margin from 29.6% last year to 34.1%
for the Year, resulting from the optimal sales mix of 24-karat gold and gem-set
jewellery products.

During the Year, the Group continued with the strategic roadmap of business
transformation which was started in 2023 - closing all underperforming retail
stores in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland, expanding the franchise network
in the Mainland prudently and also reduced the gem-set jewellery inventory
drastically. Accordingly, the Group incurred an additional restructuring cost and
stores closure expense of approximately HK$37 million in total during the Year.

Moreover, the Group had implemented various cost control measures including
maintaining a very lean and efficient organization structure through streamlining
of human resources, significant reduction of staff costs and relocation of
various headquarter functions from Hong Kong to the Mainland. The selling and
distribution expenses and administrative expenses were reduced substantially
by approximately 36.0% or HK$381.5 million during the Year, comparing to that
of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IR E R AR Ko (

=\
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The high financing cost continued to have negative impact to the profitability of
the Group during the Year. After taking into account some non-cash impairment
of fixed assets and right-of-use assets and fair value loss on revaluation of
certain investment properties, amounting to approximately HK$71.0 million
in total, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$197.8 million for the Year, a reduction of HK$176.4 million as compared to a
loss of HK$374.2 million last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Retailing Business
Hong Kong and Macau

The total retail sales value of Hong Kong continues to decline on a year-on-
year basis, especially in the category of jewellery, watches and clocks, and
valuable gifts. This was mainly resulted from the ongoing trend of northbound
travel to the Mainland and outbound travel to other countries of local residents.
With respect to the inbound visitors, the travel orientation has changed from
shopping-focus to experiential travelling-oriented. The purchasing power of
these visitors had been found weak in the past year and was in a downward
trend. Such continuing and drastic changes in the local retail landscape forced
the Group to close certain underperforming retail stores in Hong Kong during
the Year to save costs and enhance operating efficiency. The Group also
proactively negotiated with landlords to reduce the rental cost of active retail
stores upon lease renewal.

Nevertheless, the Group remains keen and determined to invest in remaining
stores, especially the flagship stores at New Town Plaza in Shatin and The
Venetian Macao in Macau, by enhancing product assortment and refreshing
visual merchandising with updated brand imagery to better serve customers.
Additionally, the Group allocated resources to introduce new design products
during the Year. Overall sales performance improved, with the increasing sales
mix of complementary gem-set products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Looking ahead, the proactive measures taken by Hong Kong and Macau Special
Administrative Region governments to promote tourism and mega events
would benefit the retail sectors, though it would continue to face challenge from
the change in consumption patterns of visitors and residents. With the recent
implementation of the “Multi-entry Visa Scheme”, the influx of Mainland tourists
to Hong Kong and Macau is expected to grow gradually, offsetting some of the
negative effects from ongoing challenges over time. The retail sales recovery in
both Hong Kong and Macau remains prudently optimistic.

The Mainland

The economic environment remained sluggish as a result of the continuing
consolidation of the Mainland’s property sector during the Year. The slow
recovery of retail market continued to be a key challenge to the Group in
the past few years. The expected positive effects from various measures
recently introduced by the Central People’s Government of the PRC to boost
the consumer market have yet to observe. Conversely, the sustained decline
in the market demand for natural diamond jewellery, coupled with restrained
consumer demand for 24-karat gold products amid record-breaking gold price
surge, Group’s sales performance was inevitably impacted.

The Group continues its strategy to proactively streamline its self-operated
store network and organization structure during the Year. The number of self-
operated stores was reduced significantly by 61% to 35, resulting in a lower sales
turnover compared to last year. The Group currently operates 346 retail stores
in the Mainland, approximately 90% of which are franchised stores. The Group
will continue adapting to these new market dynamics and progressively expand
its franchised store network. Moreover, the Group has been reengineering its
gold replenishment process and increasing gold inventory levels in all self-
operated stores. Meanwhile, its vast franchised store network is well-positioned
to serve diverse consumer preferences, offering both 24-karat gold and a robust
selection of gem-set jewellery, which enables the Group to maintain a more
balanced inventory mix.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

ERENRRAFE)

The Central People’s Government of the PRC seeks to assuage concerns that the
broad tariffs recently imposed by the United States may derail efforts to shore
up the economic recovery. However, the Group believes the Central People’s
Government of the PRC will implement more policies and measures to boost
domestic demand in the Mainland’s retail market, and the consumer sentiment in
retail sector will gradually improve. By adopting an optimal mix of self-operated
stores and franchise network expansion, strengthening brand equity, and
deepening market penetration, the Group is confident that the profitability of its
Mainland’s retail business will continue to improve in coming years.

Malaysia

The Group’s retail business in Malaysia remains strong with double-digit growth
in both sales turnover and operating profits against that of last year. The
continuous improvement in sales performance was resulted from the stable
economic recovery of this country, our strong brand equity in this growing
market, and the increasing domestic demand for 24-karat gold jewellery
products during the Year.

The Group currently operates 8 retail stores in Malaysia, including 2 newly
renovated flagship stores separately located at Elite Pavilion in Kuala Lumpur
and Gurney Plaza in Penang which were re-opened in April and October 2024
respectively. The Group will stay the course to enhance its product assortment
in the pursuit of further sales growth and brand recognition. Moreover, the
Group will continue to realize the market potential by expanding its store
network steadily at optimal locations in Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Wholesale Business

The sales performance of the Group’s wholesale business was slowed down
during the Year, mainly due to a significant decline in demand for natural
diamonds since the first quarter of 2024. Nevertheless, the franchise network
expansion momentum remained on track, with 98 franchised stores opened
during the Year, driving an encouraging double-digit growth in operating profit
from franchise wholesale business compared to last year. The Group runs a total
of 311 franchised stores in the Mainland as at 31 March 2025.

Witnessing the gradual recovery of retail sector and economic growth in the
Mainland, the Group will continue its commitment to transform strategically
from retail-focus to a more balanced retail-and-wholesale organization and
proactively collaborate with potential franchisees who are financially strong
and capable of supporting the sustainable growth of Group’s franchise business
in long term, so as to strengthen its market presence and brand equity in the
Mainland.

E-Business

The Group has been focusing on the continual development of its e-business
and established various comprehensive e-business platforms through ongoing
enhancement of its official e-Shops and diversifying its online sales channels,
especially in the Mainland. During the Year, the Group’s e-business recorded
a mild drop in sales turnover, mainly due to the intense competition of online
market as well as the planned adjustment of inventory portfolio to improve
operating efficiency. The overall profitability was however improved from last
year, despite a slight drop of gross profit margin resulting from the increased
sales mix of 24-karat gold products and clearance of aged gem-set jewellery
products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEE BRI (E)

Apart from launching of seasonal promotions and different social media
advertising and marketing campaigns, the Group has enhanced its online sales
penetration through cooperation with various popular e-commerce platforms in
the Mainland during the Year. With continuous optimization of inventory level,
adjustments of product portfolio and increasing traffic to TSL official e-Shops
and TSL online flagship stores from leveraging different e-commerce platforms,
the Group believes that its e-business will continue to show encouraging results
through its digital landscape supported by the existing solid foundation laid.

OUTLOOK

Following the government’'s implementation of policies and measures to
stimulate the domestic demand, especially in the Mainland and Hong Kong,
the Group expects that the recovery of retail consumer market will be at times
patchy with comparative slower speed in luxury retail segment. Nevertheless,
the Group will continue to focus on expanding its franchise network in the
Mainland with a robust mix of self-operated and franchised stores. The Group
will keep enhancing its 24-karat gold jewellery assortment and inventory level in
all retail stores to grasp the continuous uptrend of consumer demand. Moreover,
the Group remains committed to providing an innovative and diversified
product portfolio complimented by excellence in product design as well as
craftsmanship.

Maintaining an optimal capital structure and adhering to prudent financial
and treasury management remain the Group’s top priorities. With steadfast
commitment, we are determined to turn around the business and refine
its strategies to transform the whole organization to get well prepared for
achieving sustainable growth in mid to long term.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total outstanding interest-bearing bank
borrowings and gold loan amounted to HK$731.6 million (31 March 2024:
HK$1,076.4 million), which comprised mainly bank loans and trade finance
facilities. All borrowings of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. Interest on bank borrowings is calculated on either the inter-bank
interest rate or the prime rate or the benchmark interest rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had pledged time deposits, cash and bank
balances of HK$187.7 million (31 March 2024: HK$474.1 million), which were
mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars.

Internally generated funding and borrowings have mainly been applied during
the Year to finance the enhancement of the Group’s inventory mix on 24-karat
gold products and capital expenditure incurred.

The Group was in a net debt position of approximately HK$543.9 million as at
31 March 2025, as compared to approximately HK$602.3 million as at 31 March
2024. As at 31 March 2025, the net gearing ratio was 154.0% (31 March 2024:
108.9%), which was calculated based on the amount of net debt position (sum
of total interest-bearing bank borrowings and gold loan less cash and cash
equivalents) as a percentage of total equity.

During the Year, the transactions of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. Renminbi is not a freely
convertible currency and any significant exchange rate fluctuation of Renminbi
may have financial impacts on the Group. The Board is of the view that such
foreign exchange exposure is manageable by using natural hedges that arise
from holding assets and liabilities denominated in the same foreign currencies
and that the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation remains minimal.
The Group will continue to closely monitor its foreign exchange position.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 March 2025 is disclosed in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities which have not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of employees of the Group was
approximately 1,138 (31 March 2024: 1,891). The change was with due regard
to the Group’s business strategies and the market conditions. There were no
major changes in human resources policies. The Company offers competitive
remuneration packages including salary, allowances and discretionary bonus.
Employees are rewarded on a performance basis with reference to market rates.
Other employee benefits include medical cover and subsidies for job-related
continuing education. Retail frontline staff are provided with formal on-the-
job training by internal senior staff and external professional trainers. There are
discussion forums and in-house seminars for experience sharing.

ERENREDIT(A)

MR2025F 38318 AEBEZEEFEEHFTR
THEBAHEFE RE1187,700,0007T(2024F 3 A318 ¢
474,00,0007T) + FBE L ARBRETLABEN-

CHERR
B

AEERNEBABERREERSZ2ES - KD ARNE
EAKE24KEERNEFAE REARAZENE

MR2025%3 A31H Zﬁﬁlzmsﬁ&ﬂk/ﬁ;%i’],aﬁ%
543,900,0007T * ¥ bR 20244F 3 A 3] 4

602,300,000 ° #2025 3 A31H '@‘E\TEJ:I:??%]MO%
(202453 A318 :108.9%) © UL AEBFEBRKINEEE
(Bt BRITEREECERRERE MRS FEY) (hiE

HABENADLAE

AEERAFERATEZUAEBT ARBERETIRRFHE
i - ARBIWIFAEmEBNEE  MEMERAHARE
ERREAEHARBEXT BEZE - EEERR/UFIN
ERRZNER  EBFAENERNMNEHENEENE
BEEEAED  AUERKDHHAEENTEERFE
B o RSB AR V) B ELOME AR ©

SEHEEEARIAEE

M2025F 38318 - REBMEERFNGA T BHREM T
IZFRWEE o N2025%3 A31H » REBIELMENSA
BERNGRE M BHRETEE (20245638318 - 8) -

ANER

202553 A31H - AEEHIEAL1138EEE (2024453
H318 :1,891) « thE B RN AR B X BN TS5
D /\ﬁéﬁﬂlﬁlﬂiﬁ“éﬂ ARARRFEEBEHRFD
MFMAS  HherkEHs  RBERIEIEA - BEFE
BRIERRERSEMSKTEE - HttEERAEER
R R TERBREEERM - ABERBERIMNEEZE
%EﬂiAﬁﬁM?E’%EI%T IEACAERIR ) o R B A ER RS
MEBOFEHLMEE

017



THE FOUNDER
gl A

TSE, SUI LUEN

i I Bk

Tse Sui Luen, aged 88, is the Group’s Founder. Mr. Tse provides general advisory
& strategic advice to the Group. He was the Chairman of the Group from 1987
to 2000 and re-joined the Group in September 2011. He is a veteran jewellery
expert having over 53 years of experience in jewellery industry. He has a wide
range of experience in gem setting, quality control, administration, operations,
management and marketing. He also has very good personal networks with the
peers and suppliers, which facilitate the Group’s business development. He is the
father of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the
controlling shareholder of the Group, and the father-in-law of Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie, Jp, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
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YAU, ON YEE ANNIE, Jp

&R fE (AFsT)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
FRCTHEHRRATES

CHOW, CHEE WAI CHRISTOPHER
Bk &
Independent Non-Executive Director
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CHAN, YUE KWONG MICHAEL
BR ¥ K

Independent Non-Executive Director
BIFRTES

CHAN, ALEX
R E &

Independent Non-Executive Director
BIAFRITESF
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

T B MAITIH AR

YAU, ON YEE ANNIE
B % &

Yau On Yee, Annie, sp, (“Ms. Yau”) aged 54, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, the chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of both the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She joined the Group in 2002, and became an Executive Director of the
Company in 2006. She is also a director of most subsidiaries of the Company.
In the early years at the Company, she pioneered the Group’s Jewellery ERP
discipline and modernised the Company’s management through business
process reengineering. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for multi-national
companies such as Motorola Semiconductors and IBM. She has over 32 years of
management experience in the USA and Hong Kong. She is a director of each of
Partner Logistics Limited and Blink Technology Limited which have discloseable
interests in the Company under provisions of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”). She graduated from Boston University, USA and holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Engineering. Ms. Yau is the spouse of
Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the controlling
shareholder of the Group, and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the
Founder of the Group.

Ms. Yau was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (“JP”) by the Chief Executive
of the HKSAR on 1 July 2024, in recognition of her outstanding achievements
and continued contribution to the society. Ms. Yau is currently a member of
the Election Committee of the HKSAR (Wholesale and Retail Subsector), the
chairman of the Hong Kong Retail Management Association, and a nominated
member of the Hong Kong Brand Development Council. She also involves
in some future development initiatives of HKSAR by being appointed as a
member of the Tourism Strategy Committee and a member of the Council for
Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable Development of the HKSAR Government. In
contribution to training and education, Ms. Yau serves as the convenor of the
Retail Industry Consultative Networks of the Employees Retraining Board, a
member of the advisory group on Entrepreneurship and Industry Engagement of
The Education University of Hong Kong, and a member of the Jewellery Industry
Training Advisory Committee. Her regional contributions include appointments
as a standing committee member of the Eighth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Hainan Province and a member of the Hainan-Hong
Kong Economic Cooperation and Development Consultative Committee.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)
EEREREEABMHN(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (“Mr. Chan”), aged 73, is an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company, who joined the Group in 2010.

Mr. Chan was the former chairman and is currently a non-executive director
of Café de Coral Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 341), and is a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 573) and an independent
non-executive director of each of Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1382), Starlite Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 403), Modern Dental Group
Limited (Stock Code: 3600) and Human Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1419), all companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
has worked as a professional town planner with government bodies in Hong
Kong and Canada. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and Political
Science, a Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
Canada, an Honorary Doctorate degree in Business Administration, as well as
being bestowed the Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan has
many years of professional experience in the public sector and over 40 years
of management experience in the food and catering industry. He is the Adviser
of the Quality Tourism Services Association and the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher (“Mr. Chow"), aged 58, is an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company, who joined the Group in 2013.

Mr. Chow is the Founding Partner of TCC Capital, an advisory and private equity
fund management company. He holds a Diploma of Investment and Finance
from The Securities Institute of Australia, a Bachelor of Economics degree from
The University of Sydney and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow has over 21 years experience in
auditing and merger and acquisition advisory. Prior to founding TCC Capital, he
worked for two of the “Big Four” international accounting firms in Sydney, Hong
Kong and Beijing and was the Partner in charge of the mergers and acquisitions
practice. He possesses in-depth understanding of financial and capital markets
and has built up substantial experience in advising multinational companies,
state owned enterprises and private companies in Hong Kong and the Mainland
on a number of direct investments, and mergers and acquisitions transactions.

Alex Chan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 57, is an Independent Non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company, who joined the Group in 2023. He was appointed as a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company with effective from 30 June 2025.

Mr. Chan is a director of Artellex Limited which provides high-quality art and
photography printing and trading services. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Computer Science from McMaster University. From September 1999 to
November 2001, he built extensive telecommunications marketing experience in
Hong Kong CSL Limited. From 2001 to 2007, he was responsible for Hong Kong
retail business, branding strategies and development of the Group and served
as an Executive Director of the Company between June 2004 and February
2007. Subsequently, he held various senior positions at The Hong Kong Jockey
Club from March 2007 to June 2021. Mr. Chan, as a versatile leader with
cross-industry expertise, has over 21 years of diverse management experience in
sales operations, brand marketing, stakeholders engagement, and social media
governance.
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DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TSE, TAT FUNG TOMMY
i 22 g

Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tse”), aged 57, is the Group’s Deputy Chief
Executive Officer. He is responsible for the Group’s sales and operations in all
markets plus the Group’s creative directions and supply chain management. He
joined the Group after returning from the USA in 1994. He was the Chairman
of the Group from 2000 to 2008 and was, during that time, responsible for the
Group’s overall strategy and business development. During his absence, his life
had been enriched through touching the hearts and souls of the inmates. He re-
joined the Group in September 2011. Mr. Tse graduated from Boston University
and holds a Bachelor of Science (Business Administration) degree, Bachelor of
Science (Mathematics) degree, and Master of Arts (Mathematics) degree. He
is a director of Partner Logistics Limited and Blink Technology Limited which
have discloseable interests in the Company under provisions of the SFO. He is
the son of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group, the spouse of Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, Jp, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Group.
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SERVICE AWARDS
The Hong Kong Retail Management Association

HKRMA Quality Service Programme
2024 Excellent Service Retailer of the Year - Flagship stores

2024 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Watch & Jewellery Category Award

HKRMA Flagship Service Recognition

2024 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Chain Stores Silver Award

2024 Service Talent Award

Outstanding Flagship Service Brand

Excellent Service Star

Quality Tourism Services Association

Outstanding QTS Merchant Service Staff Award

Supervisory Staff - Fashion & Lifestyle, Retail Sector (Bronze Award)
Frontline Staff - Fashion & Lifestyle, Retail Sector (Silver Award)
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THE TSL |

The TSL | #i¥BE Foundation (“TSLF™) was originally established by the Group
to preserve the heritage of the traditional jewellery making techniques so as
to create sustainability of jewellery industry. TSLF later expands its support
to cultivate variety of talents to bring more inspiration and muse to the
development of creative industries in Hong Kong.

Music is a fundamental element of every human culture. TSLF has been actively
contributing to the “Cantopop” culture in Hong Kong. Besides, TSLF has
continued to focus on astronomy for the Chinese community in order to educate
the public about the latest developments in both the professional and amateur
astronomy arenas.

CANTOPOP PRESERVATION

The high time of Cantopop was from the 1980s to the 2000s where many
masterpieces were being created. As time progresses, Cantopop was not as
flourishing as in the late 20th century. Cantopop preservation therefore plays
a vital role in the substantiality of the Hong Kong culture. With the advances
in information technology, the preservation of Cantopop is no longer a difficult
task. In the past, people reached Cantopop through television or optical discs;
but for now, people can simply play the songs anytime they want via digital or
streaming platforms. The spreading of pop music is being accelerated by the
cause of globalization.
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THE TSL | #% B FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)

TSL | #f¥m B H4(8)

ASTRONOMY EDUCATION

Astronomy opens the door to understand and admire the vast and fascinating
universe we live in. It encompasses the study of celestial objects such as stars,
planets, comets, nebula, clusters and galaxies. Amateur astronomer can now
even carry out observation and analysis of celestial objects at their fingertips in
the dense populated city, thanks to the instruments and techniques nowadays
available to amateurs.

Stars and nebula in the sky, just like sparking diamonds and colourful gem, catch
the human eyes. Rare and precious metals can only be produced at the heart of
supernova, it is in the learning of astronomy, for ourselves to appreciate how the
world around us is formed through the evolution of galaxies and the universe.
TSLF sees the colourful and shiny stars and galaxies as priceless and alluring of
our jewellery and we are committed to education and the promotion of applying
the latest technologies in astronomy, with a series of events conducted with
experts to the public.

Amateur astronomers made 34 portable equatorial mounts in the
workshop using harmonic drive technology
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TSLF jointly organized seminars and workshops with Hong Kong Astro Forum, to
vitalize the applications of cutting edge technologies for amateur astronomy. A
workshop in lunar and planetary image processing was conducted in April 2024,
using lucky imaging and deconvolution technologies to achieve high resolution
imaging taken by Earth base telescopes. Another workshop in September 2024
was successfully completed, with over 34 amateur astronomers made their own
portable equatorial mount with harmonic drive, stepper motor and relevant
electronics and applications in one day, the first ever success and record in
Hong Kong and in the region. A forum with professional astronomer Dr. Yuri
Beletsky and leading astronomical equipment brands founders was also carried
out in March 2025, with them shared their philosophies and technologies applied
in astronomy with amateurs.

Professional astronomer Dr. Yuri Beletsky shared how he plans and
captures the beauty of night sky.
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THE TSL | & FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)

TSL | #imBES(E)
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TSLF also supported the translation of WinJUPOS application, the de facto
standard in solar system objects measurement and analysis, to Simplified
Chinese and Traditional Chinese, to facilitate more Chinese Astronomers to

contribute to the research of the Solar System.
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In addition, TSLF supports citizen science by operating remote observatories
with Hong Kong Astro Forum. A paper in The Astrophysical Journal is published,
utilized image and data captured by the remote observatory for tracking and
analysis of Supernova SN2024ggi, the evolution in the early phase of this
Supernova explosion in another galaxy 22 million light years away from the
Earth.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
88 to 240 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was declared during the Year, and the Directors do not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (2023/24 total dividend:
Nil).

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with the principles and guidelines as
follows:

(@) In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as the value of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”);

(b)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio;

(c)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the

Shareholders, subject to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”)
and all applicable laws and regulations as well as the factors set out
below;
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The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends: (i)
financial performance, (ii) cash flow position, (iii) business conditions and
strategies, (iv) future operations and earnings, (v) capital requirements
and expenditure plans, (vi) market benchmark, (vii) the Shareholders’
interests and (viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant;

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the factors as set out above, the following dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period: (i) interim
dividend, (ii) final dividend, (iii) special dividend and (iv) any distribution
of net profits or contributed surplus where applicable, that the Board may
deem appropriate;

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the Company’s
profits. Save as the foregoing, payment of dividends will be subject to the
Shareholders” approval;

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate; and

Any unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company
in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided in the
sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. Certain financial key performance indicators can
be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and discussions
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance are included in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report, and in a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The ESG Report
will be published under the sub-section “ESG Reports” of “Investors” section
on the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com and the Stock Exchange’s website
in compliance with the stipulations under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 28
August 2025 to Tuesday, 2 September 2025 (both days inclusive), for the
purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 2
September 2025 (the “2025 AGM™). During the above closure period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the
2025 AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops
1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong Time) on Wednesday, 27 August 2025. The
Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members on Tuesday, 2
September 2025, the record date of the 2025 AGM, will be entitled to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors and in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during the Year
(2023/24: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment as well as
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 14 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on pages 243 to 244
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) (the “Bermuda Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, amounted to approximately HK$162,788,000, which represented the
contributed surplus and retained profits of the Company.
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Under the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-laws, the contributed surplus of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this contributed surplus if: (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less than its
liabilities.

Details of the above are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate and the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 64.1% and 33.4%
respectively by value of the Group’s total purchases.

Rosy Blue Hong Kong Limited, one of the Group's five largest suppliers, is
a fellow subsidiary of Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, which is the
preference shareholder of Partner Logistics Limited (the Company’s immediate
holding company).

Except for the above, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any of the Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
major customers and suppliers noted above.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

BERHE(E)

RBERERRDERARMAAT - RRBENEHEHRT TR
DIk o AT - MHRATER » KRB FREZABRIE
BBREEEIRFORMRE A - D IREHEELR - ()T
SERNBERFENEELNHAE  (DEEENA
ZHEESAmMINEEE -

IA_EFHREN AR & I TS R P RE 39

ITREFRHED

AEEARAEEZAREPARGAEEEERER
30% - MAKERAHRER REAHEED G ANEER
FREEREXV64.1% K 33.4% ©

NEE A K{EEER 2 —HRosy Blue Hong Kong Limited &
Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited (It YA AR 2 BB
RGN & Partner Logistics Limited B8 55 AE A% 2R ) &9 [ Z B
BRa -

BEuES  BEEEREETREASLEABRR (BES

FRan - HAEARARDBITRASUA L) ARSI ERF
Tt FE R RO (E (Al 2%

039



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

HH
1

i’ah.(f/
HX /3 A\«

pul

)
)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, s (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella* (Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher
Mr. Alex Chan

Remark:
* Resigned on 27 May 2024

In accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws and to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael shall retire from his office by rotation at the
2025 AGM, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election as an Independent
Non-executive Director respectively for a term of three years. All other Directors
continue in office for the ensuing year.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors and as at the date of this report
still considers them to be independent. Please also see the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report for assessment by the
Company in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the Year are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Human
Resources Department and the employees’ emoluments are determined on the
basis of their qualifications, experiences and areas of expertise.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual expertise, professional
experience and comparable market statistics.

The emoluments of the Independent Non-executive Directors, are decided by
the Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities.

The emoluments of the Directors and employees of the Group include a share
option scheme, details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:

Interests and long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

EERFETRAEREAQTAZRMD - HEBKR
D REERNERR LR

HZE2025%3A310 EERAQAFNEBTHRAER &
BESEZEMBEANRARRSETMEEEE (TR
FHEREBEEAIEXVER) 2kh - BRERD REREETE#E
BREBEESNBEERNEXVIEE7 RS MR EAME AR
NE R RTRER AR (BRERESFLAEEAIARETE
TEEIIERACEINEZRAE)  HBREZSFR
HE GBI EIS2HEBRRBEARRFE 2 &M - sKZEIR
BEMRBIMERCIFAEH 2 FMARIBITAEZERHTESR
SEEEESF R ([1RESFR]) A AR R KRB R AT ED &

BT

AN AR BB 2 i a MR

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

EREEBE0S THEER
Approximate
Derivative percentage of
Personal Family Corporate interest Other total issued
Name of Director interest interest interest (share options) interest share capital*
LB 81T
TETERER RAEH
B B AR RikER AFER (MR E) HibiE BHAED T
Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp 130,553 180,691,775 - - - 72.57%
2 % (kP t) (Note Fi#E)
5,219
(Note Kt&E)
* The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the * Bt RER 202593 A31TH AR A 2 %77249,182,030
Company in issue as at 31 March 2025. f% I mARETE -
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Note:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics Limited,
a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Blink
Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy,
the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, JP is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company
held by Partner Logistics Limited.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp is deemed to be interested in all the shares of
the Company held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, chief
executive and their respective associates of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which required notification to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register maintained by the Company, or which were
required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ FERREREMATRHRAEAATRG RIEERG
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND MR8¥
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the interests, all being long positions, of any substantial & %2025 38310 - EfA X BREHEMA L (WIHEES
Shareholders or other persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the BARNTEBITHAE) EARR BN K SABRIHD
Company) in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which have EECIREE S REASELIEXVEIE2 X35 AR T R
been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and A BIELIEE @ LEREES LS 6 $33618BLA
3 of Part XV of the SFO and have been recorded in the register required to be AR THEFHERMANEZ I AFE) AT -

kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

BREEBE0.25 THZER
Approximate
percentage of
Number of total issued
Name Capacity ordinary shares share capital*
HERITRAE
=r 514 ZERBROEE LEHIEIL
[©) Partner Logistics Limited (Note 1 Fff5E1) Beneficial owner 180,691,775 72.51%
EnEBA
(i) Blink Technology Limited (Note 1 f5E1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
S| N
(i)  Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (Note 1 Bff&E1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.57%
A RYES N A
Interest of spouse 130,553
B a R
Beneficial owner 5,219
EnEBA
(iv)  Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited (Note 2 Bi5¥2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
At N
(v)  Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited (Note 2 Mf#¥2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
YR N A
(vi)  Prime Investments S.A. (Note 2 Bif5£2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NG
(vii) Elmas Hong Kong Limited (Note 2 Fif5¥2) Trustee 180,691,775 72.51%
LN

* The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the * BAOLRIEN2025%3 A31BARA T2 317249,182,030
Company in issue as at 31 March 2025. fREBARGTH -
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Notes:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics
Limited, a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology
Limited. Blink Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp, an executive
Director. By virtue of the SFO, Blink Technology Limited, Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie, Jp (her deemed interest is disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company”) and Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy are
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by Partner
Logistics Limited.

130,553 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, JP.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, JP.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

These ordinary shares of the Company, relating to the same block of shares
mentioned in note 1 above, are held by Partner Logistics Limited, a company
which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited is the preference shareholder of Partner Logistics
Limited. Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Rosy Blue
Jewellery (HK) Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Prime Investments
S.A.. Elmas Hong Kong Limited is the trustee of a discretionary trust, which
holds all interests of Prime Investments S.A.. By virtue of the SFO, each of
Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited, Prime
Investments S.A. and Elmas Hong Kong Limited, is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had not been
notified of any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the

SFO.
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of the
Directors since the last published interim report are as follows:

- Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp, an executive Director, has been appointed
as a member of Advisory Group on Entrepreneurship and Industry
Engagement of The Education University of Hong Kong with effect from
1 May 2025, and a Justice of the Peace by the HKSAR Government with
effect from 1 July 2024.

Changes in Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments during the Year are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme at its annual general meeting
held on 21 July 2016 (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”). The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
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Participants:

(a)

()

()

()]

(e)

)

(9)

Q)

any employee(s) (whether full time or part time employee(s),
including any director or executive director but not any
non-executive director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

any non-executive director (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue and the
percentage of issued shares as at the date of this annual
report:

Pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the total number
of ordinary shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue on 21 July 2016 (the “Adoption Date”)
(i.e. not exceeding 21,033,622 shares (representing approximately 8.44%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report) on the basis that
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
is 210,336,221 shares). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.
However, the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company. For any grant of options
to a substantial Shareholder or an Independent Non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, the Company’s shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued shares of
the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million.

Any further grant is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with the grantee, his/her/its associates and core connected
persons of the Company abstaining from voting in favour.

3.
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Period within which the option may be exercised by the
grantee:

The period would be commencing from the date of grant of an option and
ending on such date as the Board may determine in granting the option
but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period of options granted:

The Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which
the option has to be held or other restrictions before the exercise of the
subscription right attaching thereto.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
and the period within which payments must be made:

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of shares for which it is
offered provided that it is accepted in a board lot for dealing in the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.
An offer is open for acceptance within 28 days from the date of offer
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
2016 Share Option Scheme or after the 2016 Share Option Scheme has
been terminated.

Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the Board and
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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9. Remaining life:

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026.

As at the beginning and the end of the Year, the number of options available
for grant under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is 21,033,622, representing
approximately 8.44% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report. As at the date of this report, no share option
has been granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since it was adopted.
During the Year, no material matter relating to the 2016 Share Option Scheme
was brought to issue requiring the review or approval of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme operated by the Company as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, neither at the end of nor at any time during the Year did
there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, its holding company
or subsidiaries, was a party, and the objects of or one of the objects of such
arrangement were/was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

With effect from 1 September 2011, (i) Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy
Tse”), the substantial Shareholder and the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp,
the executive Director, has been employed by a subsidiary of the Company as
the Chief Merchandising Officer (subsequently, re-designated as the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 November 2016) (“Tommy Tse
Employment™); and (ii) Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the father of Mr. Tommy Tse and
father-in-law of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp, has been employed by a subsidiary
of the Company as the Founder (“Tse Senior Employment”). Both Tommy Tse
Employment and Tse Senior Employment have been revised on 22 June 2012,
further details are disclosed in the announcement dated 22 June 2012. Both
Tommy Tse Employment and Tse Senior Employment constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the amounts in respect of Tse Senior Employment is below de
minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tse
Senior Employment is fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

The roles and functions of the senior management of the Group have changed
due to the continued development of the Group in 2016. Mr. Tommy Tse
has taken up the role in supply chain and wholesale business, as well as the
leadership of the Mainland retail, travel trade, alternate channels and the Group'’s
branding and creative directions. On 31 October 2016, the Company through
its subsidiary entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tommy Tse
(2016 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which superseded his previous
employment agreement. On 29 March 2018, a renewed employment agreement
was entered into for a further term of 25 months commencing on 1 March 2018
and expiring on 31 March 2020 (“2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”) in
light of the change of the Group’s financial year-end date. Further details are
disclosed in the announcements dated 1 November 2016 and 29 March 2018.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, 2016 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and the annual caps
were only subject to the disclosure in annual report, announcement and annual
review by Independent Non-executive Directors and auditor requirements,
but were exempt from the circular and independent Shareholders’” approval
requirements as all of the relevant percentage ratios for the aggregate annual
package of Mr. Tommy Tse was less than 5%.

On 26 March 2020, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a
further term of 2 years commencing on 1 April 2020 and expiring on 31 March
2022 (“2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”). Subsequently, on 28 March
2022, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a further term
of 3 years commencing on 1 April 2022 and expiring on 31 March 2025 (“2022
Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which is terminable on three months’
notice in writing by either party. According to 2020 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2022 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement, the total amount
(including basic salary and discretionary bonus) payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for
any financial year shall not exceed the de minimis threshold of HK$3,000,000
under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules; any excess amount shall be payable
to Mr. Tommy Tse upon the Company having re-complied with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of Mr. Tommy Tse’s valuable contribution to the Group, the
improvements of the Group’s performance and the market condition during
2021/22, the Board has approved to revise the annual cap of the total amount
payable to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement for
2021/22 to HK$3,200,000. Further details are disclosed in the announcement
dated 21 June 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, all of the relevant percentage
ratios for the total amount payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for 2021/22 was less
than 5%. As regards 2021/22, 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and
the revised annual cap were only subject to the disclosure in annual report,
announcement and annual review by Independent Non-executive Directors
and auditor requirements, but were exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.
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The total amount paid to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2022 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement for the Year is below de minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tommy Tse Employment is fully exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
the Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tommy Tse has renewed his employment agreement with the Company
on 28 March 2025 for a further team of 3 years commencing on 1 April
2025 and expiring on 31 March 2028 (the “2025 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement”). The amount to be paid to Mr. Tommy Tse for 2025/26 under the
2025 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement will below the de minimis threshold
for the purposes of Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, the 2025 Tommy Tse
Employment Agreement is fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no connected transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director, either
directly or indirectly, had a material interest, nor any interest in competing
business, whether directly or indirectly, nor contract of significance between
the Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year and up to the
date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, are disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or damages which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage, which is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year, for
the Directors and officers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the Year (including
the sale of treasury shares, if any). The Company did not hold any treasury
shares during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 241 to
242 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Acting as guarantor for the facilities agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United
Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank
SinoPac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

On 6 May 2022, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company as guarantors
and another subsidiary of the Company as borrower (the “Borrower”) entered
into a facilities agreement (the “Facilities Agreement”) with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United Overseas Bank Limited,
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank SinoPac, Hong Kong Branch and China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited acting as mandated lead arrangers
and original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising a term
loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount of HK$820,000,000 (the
“Facilities”), has been granted to the Borrower for a term of 3.5 years from the
date of the first utilisation of the Facilities.

Pursuant to the Facilities Agreement, it will be an event of default if Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, Jp, the spouse of Mr. Tommy Tse (being the controlling Shareholder)
ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp and her
immediate family members (including any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent,
spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law,
brother-in-law and sister-in-law) taken as a whole cease to (i) be, directly or
indirectly, the single largest Shareholder; or (i) have control of the Company
(where “control” is defined as meaning the power (whether by way of ownership
of shares, proxy, contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) appoint or remove all,
or the majority of, directors on the Board or such other persons who may be
charged with or entitled to exercise central management and control of that
corporate person; or (b) directly or indirectly to otherwise direct or cause the
direction of management and policies of that corporate person) (which, for
the avoidance of doubt, includes the right to determine the composition of a
majority of the Board); or Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp and her immediate family
members taken as a whole cease to remain as the direct or indirect, legal and
beneficial owner of at least 36% of the issued share capital of the Company
which is free from any Security (as defined in the Facilities Agreement).
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Upon the occurrence of such an event of default which is continuing, the agent
under the Facilities Agreement may, and shall if so directed by the Majority
Lenders (as defined in the Facilities Agreement), cancel the Commitments (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement) or any part thereof, and/or declare all or
part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities, together with accrued interest,
and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents
(as defined in the Facilities Agreement) be immediately due and payable, and/
or declare all or part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities be payable
on demand, and/or exercise or direct the security agent to exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in the
CG Code contained in Appendix C1to the Listing Rules. Throughout the Year and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company has been in compliance with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save and except for code provision
C.2.1, details of which are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report .

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, such
as the Bermuda Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations
implemented in relevant jurisdictions. During the Year, the Company has
complied, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors, with all relevant rules
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief and exemption from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young (“EY"). EY will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of EY as
independent auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with all
the code provisions, except for code provision C.2.1, as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1to the Listing Rules.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp. The Board believes that Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, Jp can provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership
and allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies. The Board also considers that the current structure
of vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive in the same person will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

A robust corporate culture is vital for effective corporate governance which is
essential for the sustainable success of the Group in the long term. The Board
plays a leading role in aligning the corporate culture with the Company’s vision,
mission, and values, guiding employees’ behaviors, business practices, and
strategies.

Through setting the tone and molding the Company’s corporate culture based
on core values embraced at all organizational levels, the Board plays a pivotal
part in fostering a culture that emphasizes lawful, ethical and responsible
behavior. Recognising the significance of stakeholders throughout the Company,
the Board strives to deliver superior products and services, creating value
through sustainable growth and ongoing development.
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With a firmly established vision, mission and values framework, the Company
directs employee conduct and business endeavors, ensuring their integration
into overarching business strategies.

Vision

Bring a transformative voice to the traditional world of fine jewellery, redefine
luxury by unique individuality, self-actualization and exceptional craftsmanship.
Mission

Create delicate pieces to articulate feelings and capture vital moments, inspire
versatile designs that break boundaries and go beyond sex, ages, skin colors and
cultures.

Values

Diversity - Embrace diversity and respect differences.
Integrity - Be open, truthful and ethical consistently.

Excellence - Demonstrate persistent commitment and make every endeavour to
achieve excellence while keep reflecting, improving and innovating to reach new
heights.

Sustainability - Make decisions taking into consideration their potential impacts
in the long run.

People - Offer customers the most genuine and distinguished service and
experience.

More information about the Group’s vision, mission and values is available on the
Company’s website at ir.tsli.com (About TSL | #1358 section).

The Group has continued to strengthen its cultural framework throughout the
Year, details of the strategic initiatives are disclosed in the sections headed
“Letter to Shareholders” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report and in a separate ESG Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board during the Year and up to the date of this annual report comprises
the following directors:

The Board

Executive Directors:
HITES:
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie, Jp
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
&L+ (k- Pat)
(FERITBAEZ)
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella*
(Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
hEEL L
(BIEFE - BEREENFERARIHE)

Remark:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
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The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report. None of the
members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp. The Board considers that the current management
structure has operated efficiently. According to the Company’s practice, all
major strategic decisions are taken by the Board, or relevant committee of the
Board, as duly constituted.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of chairman
and chief executive in the same person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
by appointing at least three Independent Non-executive Directors, and ensuring
the Independent Non-executive Directors comprised at least one-third of the
Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All of them are not connected with any Director or substantial shareholder
of the Company. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.
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Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher have served
the Board as Independent Non-executive Directors for more than nine years.
Notwithstanding their long term services, given their extensive experience
as professional accountant or seasoned business leader would significantly
contribute to the strategy development and continuous improvement on
internal controls and other relevant financial and corporate governance matters
of the Company, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that they demonstrate
complete independency in character and judgement to fulfil their designated
roles, and the Board is of the opinion that they continue to bring independent
and objective perspectives to the Company’s affairs.

Mechanism has been established to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. Independent Non-executive Directors exercise
independent judgement and provide constructive challenges for the executive
Directors and the management. An annual meeting with the Chairman is also
a direct and effective channel for the Independent Non-executive Directors to
express independent views. Any Director may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

In accordance with its clear terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
will access the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors
annually and make sure that they are free from any relationship which may
affect their independent judgement. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the said independence mechanism and considered that it
remains effective.

Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states
that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Directors is appointed for a specific term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the Company Secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them
and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, risk management and internal control, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the Year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:
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Attending briefings/
trainings/seminars and/
or reading materials

HEENE E

Directors BEE AR, REEM R
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, sp BRI (kP4 t) v/
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella* h&EEL L -
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRIA Y ST E v
Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher AaE T E v
Mr. Alex Chan PRIZRR ST E v
Remark: AL

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the said Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to the Shareholders upon
request.

All or the majority of the members of the said Board committees are
Independent Non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant
or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible for accounting
and financial reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor before
submission to the Board;

. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function; and

. to review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement, and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control BZEZESEEREBNERETIERANPEE LS @ EH
systems of the Group, reviews the internal audit report submitted by the Group’s ANEBERZEFZIFT ([RED ) 2XHAIBFZRS @ M\
Internal Audit Department (the “IA Department”), reports to the Board on any BBE@HETMEASZTE  URAESSREES -
material issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

S

{0
S

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year, a summary of work
performed is set out as follows:

RAFERAEXBITTMREH  TEHREN

\

- B

. reviewed the final results and annual report for 2023/24; . FER2023/24 2 REBFEBE R FEWRE
. approved the audit fee quotation from external auditor for 2023/24; . HEESNRAZ BR AN 2023/24 7 BET B RRE

. reviewed the significant issues on financial reporting and compliance -« EHUBREMNEGRETF ARREBEMAIPELZR
procedures, risk management and internal control systems, as well as the B URAISETBEE R T ENEANEIE
effectiveness of internal audit function;

. reviewed the interim results and interim report for the six months ended -+ EHEZ2024F9A308 LA PR EAZEERF
30 September 2024; BAERE

. reviewed the audit plan for the Year; and . EBHARFE 2EE &

. reviewed the scope of work and re-appointment of external auditor with -« EFINEZBMEZEERHERENZI - ZH
reference to audit fee market data. B -
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Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

. to make recommendations to the Board on the establishment of formal
and transparent procedures for developing the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and the senior management, which shall ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration;

. to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and the senior management with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice
and conditions;

. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the non-executive Directors with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions;

. to review and approve the compensation arrangements for the executive
Directors and the senior management in connection with any loss or

termination of their offices or appointments; and

. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed and approved the discretionary bonus to the executive Directors
and the senior management for 2023/24;

. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management for the Year;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration of the
Independent Non-executive Directors for the Year; and

. noted the remuneration package of Mr. Tse Sui Luen for the Year.

The emolument policy and remuneration packages of the Directors, senior
management of the Company and employees of the Group are disclosed in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.

The remuneration of the members of senior management of the Company by

band for the Year is set out below:

Range of Remuneration HENEE

FMEZEERAFEANRITT —REH  TERENT ¢
. ERRMERTESRSREEAR2023/24 218
TEAL

. ERRMERTEERSRERBABRFERNZSH
LS

. EHNYRAESFERBRBLIFNTEENAFEALZ
el &

. MR ERFEZHME -
RAREE  SREEABRANEEE THFH MR LH
e RAF R EEGRE | —HPHRE -

ARBBRERABRAFENFMERNT -

Number of Persons

AB

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 ##2,000,0017T £ % 3,000,0007T 1
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised one female Director and three male
Directors. The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

. to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;

. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; and
. to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that complement the Company’s corporate strategy, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, talents, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments would be based on meritocracy, and candidates would be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy, which aims to set out the
procedures, process and criteria for nomination and appointment of Directors,
and to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan.
In identifying, evaluating and selecting suitable candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidates’ character and integrity,
potential contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, knowledge,
experience and time commitment, diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy, independence (for Independent Non-executive Directors) and other
relevant criteria before making recommendation to the Board. The Nomination
Committee would also rank the candidates by order of preference based on the
Company’s needs and the candidates’ reference check where required.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy;

. assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors; and

. recommended the re-election of Directors at the 2024 AGM and the role
of Directors in various Board committees.
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The following table shows the gender ratio in the Board and the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) respectively as at 31 March 2025:
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Female Male

7z B

Board Sy 25% 75%
Workforce EE8 77.33% 22.67%

The Board considers that during the Year, the Board composition of one female
and three male Directors with diverse professional background and industry
experience maintained an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives. Gender
diversity has been achieved at board level with at least one female Director
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report. It is therefore not
necessary to set any target or timeline for enhancing gender diversity on the
Board for the time being. To maintain gender diversity, both male and female
candidates will be shortlisted for consideration before appointing a new Director
where possible.

The Company values workforce diversity (including gender diversity) across all
levels of the Group. All employees are provided equal opportunities regardless
of their gender, age, nationality and religion. Taking into consideration of the
industry norm, the Board is of the view that the gender diversity in workforce
is currently balanced, and no immediate plan or measurable objective for
enhancing gender diversity in workforce is required. Further details on the
gender ratio in the Group’s workforce are set out in the ESG Report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE
MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board committees
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set
out in the table below:

Directors Board
B EEg
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp 4/4
BEFELL cFat)

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella* -
h@aEi L

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4
BRIA S S 4

Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher 4/4
BREEE

Mr. Alex Chan** 4/4
PR (& R S A

Remarks:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024

o Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from

30 June 2025
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the

Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year. All the relevant Directors attended this meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Yuk Lun (“Mr. Yeung”) has been appointed to succeed Ms. Ng Yi Kum,
Estella as the Company Secretary with effect from 27 May 2024. During the
Year, Mr. Yeung had duly complied with the relevant training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to EY, the external auditor of the Company,
was approximately HK$3,218,000 for audit services during the Year. No other
assurance services fee was paid/payable to EY. The remuneration paid/payable
to EY was approximately HK$234,000 for non-assurance services during the
Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually through the Audit Committee. The Group’s executive management
and the IA Department have been delegated the responsibility of identifying and
evaluating the risks faced by the Group (including ESG risks) and of designing,
operating and monitoring an effective internal control system that covers
governance, compliance, risk management, financial as well as operational
control.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation,
risk management measures and risk control and review. The management is
delegated to identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. It is endeavored to evaluate and compare the level
of risk against predetermined acceptable levels of risk. For risk control and
monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not. Any material risk identified by the
management or the IA Department will be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The management and the IA Department assist the Audit Committee
and the Board to manage and control such risks by ensuring an effective risk
management system is maintained and operated within the Group.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets, providing
reliable financial reporting information and complying with the applicable
laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also established to identify,
measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate, different risks arising from
different business and functional activities.
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The IA Department plays an important role in enhancing internal control
system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining whether sound internal
control system is maintained and operated in compliance with the established
processes and standards by performing periodic audits over all major operations
of the Group, under a rotational cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual
audit focus and audit frequencies) is prepared based on the IA Department’s
independent risk assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with
the Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material
risks or internal control defects are found, the IA Department will discuss with
respective department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently followed
up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained. Major internal
audit findings will be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and all
improvement actions will be properly followed up by management to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent consulting firm to assist the
|A Department to provide professional internal audit services to the Group. Such
appointment aims to provide leadership to and enhance professionalism and
independence of the IA Department.

The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Group will disclose inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the “safe harbours”
provisions and satisfies the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential.

The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive Directors
are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.
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Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the Year, covering all material financial, operational and compliance controls,
ESG performance and reporting and considered the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to be effective and adequate. There were no
suspected material irregularities found or significant areas of concern identified
during the Year that might affect the Shareholders.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company, such as customers and suppliers, to raise
concerns in confidence and anonymity that they may have regarding any act of
misconduct, malpractice, or irregularity in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Audit Committee will ensure that proper arrangement is in
place for fair and independent investigation of the possible improprieties.

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity and ethical
operation. Anti-corruption policy and reporting mechanism of suspected
corruption practices are in place and communicated to all employees and
business partners of the Group, which provide clear guidelines on preventing
corruption, bribery, money laundering and terrorist financing. Further disclosure
on how the Group promotes and supports anti-corruption laws and regulations
is made in the ESG Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting ("SGM™)

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and the Bermuda Companies Act,
registered shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request
to convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office”). The SGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the purposes of
the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from
the share registrars of the Company that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders of the Company
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On
the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not
be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed to duly convene a SGM provided that any SGM so convened
is held within three months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’
request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the registered
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders of the Company
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and
it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the
requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building

30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: enquiry@tslj.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, potential investors as well as
analysts reporting and analyzing the Company’s performance are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company. Information is communicated mainly through the
Company’s website, financial reports, announcements and other corporate
communications as well as general meetings and investors’ meetings. The
Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee attend general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions. Taking into account of the communication channels
available, the Board has reviewed the implementation of the Shareholders
Communication Policy during the Year and considered that it remains effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents have been posted under the
sub-section “Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws” of “Corporate
Governance” section on the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website. There are no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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To the shareholders of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 88 to 240, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss for the year of HK$198 million during
the year ended 31 March 2025, and as of 31 March 2025 the Group had cash and
bank balances (including pledged time deposits) of HK$188 million while total
interest-bearing bank borrowings amounted to HK$721 million, of which HK$678
million was classified as current liabilities. These conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRETEE

BREEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEAEEN PR NMELD

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Y -~ B RR M RAEHEEEZHENS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$113 million and HK$92 million,
respectively. Management had performed impairment assessment on individual
cash-generating units and assets with impairment indicators and the Group
recorded impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$17 million and HK$43 million, respectively, during the year to
write down the carrying amounts of these assets to the recoverable amounts.
The recoverable amounts were determined based on the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value in use calculation. Management has estimated
the fair value less cost of disposal of certain properties with the assistance
of independent professional valuers. For value in use calculation, significant
judgement is required to determine the value in use amounts based upon the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit estimated.
The estimation process is highly based on assumptions, which are influenced
by projected future market and economic conditions.

MR2025F3A31H © EEXEHERYE  BEMLERERELESHNBRENE
113,000,000 7T K78 892,000,000 7T - BEBRIFHEPFRETERIRS
EXBMREAEZRENE W EEERAFERRYE  BEL&ERERR
BEZBED R AEBE17,000,000 7T KB A43000,0007T © SZEEZER
BERE AT E REE - AJREIREDRIEAABERLEXAREREE;ES
WEReEET EEEBEBVEEGHEMNOBE THTTETYENAREE
BEERAE - SMEAEBENEMNS  BEFEABERTZERHAE - WREEE
SRS ELEBNMEEZBENBRRESR « M BRI EHARTSMEE K

HrBESERE -
The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment of property, plant

and equipment and right-of-use assets are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

ERAYDE BELESEREAEEEZ AESTBRALBEEESNGEH
EMEMEE2.4 - 3 14/%16 ©
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the Group’s
policies and procedures in identifying impairment
indicators and assessing management’s significant
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts by
reviewing the Group’s business plan and evaluating the
growth rate by comparing to market data. In addition,
we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing the fair value less cost of disposal of
certain properties, and assessing the methodology and
the discount rates used to determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets. We also compared the cash flow forecasts
with historical data of the Group.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BREETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AR FTEE (4)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEE PR NELDY

Net realisable value of inventories

FRZAZEFE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded inventories of approximately HK$1,159
million before provision for impairment of approximately HK$115 million. The
write-down of inventories to net realisable value is estimated by management
through the application of judgement and the use of highly subjective
assumptions. During the year ended 31 March 2025, a net reversal of provision
for impairment of inventories of approximately HK$14 million was credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss based on management’s
assessment.

MR2025F3A31H + EEBEMGFEX AB1159,000,0007T @ Rt AFEEE
#) /715,000,000 - EEEFBAENSE TBEERGTHETERE
BINEME - REE2025F3ANBILFE  BETEBELNTG - s ALE
BERANTEREFERRSREL AB%14,000,000T °

The accounting policies and disclosures for the impairment provision on
inventories are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BFRTEERNSHIBEAREEENIENGEMBIREMTE24  3RT7 -

Our audit procedures included reviewing the Group’s
procedures in identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable;
evaluating inputs and assumptions used by the Group in
calculating the impairment; and assessing the adequacy
of the impairment recorded by reviewing subsequent
sales after the year end and comparing with historical
sales records.

BMWEAREFEREN BEXREHREHMEER
B BER - FH BRUKEMARERABKREKAR T
EMiERF - BEREBEFERERBOEEMNRE
FoURERFREHEEREFELHELHMEHLE
KEHEE ARBEZ B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

086

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for the purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Ho Yin (practising certificate number: PO6765).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

e = N/
e B @R

Year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A3HILEFE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

Notes
Bt i

E 5
SHE A

E7

HWA Rz - 558 6
HERDHER

TIRE M

Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAX

85 E M 8
BRBiRI 1B

Income tax expense

O OR AR

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

5% & A 11

7% 4F FEF s 1S

PEAEER S
EA/NCIE/ DN
ESE

RRBER ARG

BRER

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 & # T 7T
1,712,297 2,654,627
(1,128,784) (1,868,962)
583,513 785,665
2,137 16,774
(524,091) (873,591)
(153,783) (185,777)
(92,224) (256,929)
(73,915) (90,893)
(347,822)
(31,660) (26,524)
0 09 4 346
(197,752) (374,198)
47) 148)
(197,799) (374,346)

Basic and diluted (HK cents)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EmElE®K

2025 2024
Year ended 31 March 2025 Notes 20254 20244
HE2025F3A3IHIEFE Bt HK$’000 B#¥F T HK$'000 ¥ T T

LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEFE (197,799) (374,346)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ HipZEBA (FE)
(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEBTEEN I BEBRRZ
that will not be reclassified to profit Hih2mEUE (&ER)EE .
or loss in subsequent periods:

Gain on property revaluation MEE 2 W - 85,141
Remeasurement gain on defined AERFFEINE W

benefit plan 27 2,097 496
Income tax effect S e 28 (346) (82)

Net other comprehensive income that BHEKIAEEHFIEZTEER
will not be reclassified to profit or ZHthEmEBAFE
loss in subsequent periods 1,751 85,555

Other comprehensive loss that may HATREHIETERRZ
be reclassified to profit or loss in Hit2EEEER -
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of — HEGINETE 7 & H 258

foreign operations (3,692) (51,711)
Net other comprehensive loss that may HETHREFIEZTBERZ
be reclassified to profit or loss in Hih2HEEEFE
subsequent periods (3,692) (51,711
O R COMPR 0 FEHEHMEER (EE X
0O OR AD 0O A N %5 15 Q4 844
OTA OMPR O OR Z SR HEEA
AR 99,740 40,50
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FEf{h#E%E -
Owners of the Company KARHER A (199,700) (340,333)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R (40) (169)
(199,740) (340,502)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARA BRI R R

At 31 March 2025
H20259F3 A31H

2025
20254
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T

2024
20244
HK$'000 BTt

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other asset

Prepayments and deposits
Deferred tax assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Notes

B E
LIER =Y 14
EYE 15
FRREE 16(a)
mEE 17
HtEE 18
ENREES 21
BRI E E 28

112,959 138,418
140,117 151,910
92,491 135,030
929 99

500 500
10,357 28,145
10,702 34,518
367,225 488,620

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Tax recoverable

Pledged time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

1,044,023 1,253,246
38,188 77,447
42,475 62,325
2,599 5,524
58,309 294,143
129,378 179,967

1,314,972 1,872,652

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

REBEE
FE 19
FEUSAR X 20
TENFK - Hth MR R EMEE

21
BIEEIR
BT TR 22
ReERBSEEY 22
FREBAE
FERFERR 23
EEN R ERTE R 24
EEEN 25
FPEERITE 26
HEaE 16(b)
FEFIE
REBEEFE
BEERRBEE

(307,866) (337,981
(188,770) (231,532)
(10,963) (16,185)
(677,503) (568,527)
(49,069) (73,515)
(2,133) (5,866)
(1,236,304) (1,233,606)
78,668 639,046
445,893 127,666




At 31 March 2025
20253 A31H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
HEMBARARBRE)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBARE

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Employee benefit obligations
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp IR & (4 F#+) )

)
)
)

Hith B3R N fE T B A
FHRIRTTER
BEEMNES
HE&E
AR E

BEERE
i

BT
1B

RARERAEGER

FERER
EEAE

Director %

2025 2024
Notes 20255 20244
=2 HK$’000 &% T 5T HK$'000 &% T 7T
24 (1,261) (1,938)
26 (43,168) (491,682)
27 (1,326) (3,407)
16(b) (25,348) (43,412)
28 (21,568) (34,265)
(92,671) (574,704)
353,222 552,962
29 (62,296) (62,296)
3 (291,729) (491,429)
(354,025) (553,725)
803 763
(353,222) (552,962)

FEERN2025%6 A30 BEEI ] I -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

GARNED S

EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2024 Attributable to owners of the Company
HEWMEIASIALER RARERAEE
Capital Non-
Issued Share and other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits Total interests equity
EXR
BEARE R & E HifE REEF AR EERER EniasE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETR BETR BETr BETR BETT
(note 39 (note 39
(note 29) (G0) (o)(in)
(MFE39 (Hf39
(Rt&E29) (C0) (i)
At 1 April 2023 202354 A1H 62,296 122,01 169,246 540,505 894,058 (594) 893,464
Loss for the year EEEE - - - (374,198) (374,198) (148) (374,346)
Other comprehensive AEEEMEE
income/(loss) for the year: WA/ (B8):
Exchange differences on BAEEIEBNELER
translation of foreign operations - - (51,690) - (51,690) (21 (51,711)
Gain on property revaluation MEEG 2 KRE - - 85,141 - 85,141 - 85,141
Remeasurement gain on defined RERMEIMER K -
benefit plan, net of tax MBRTHE - - - 414 414 - 414
Total comprehensive TEEZERA/(BEB)
income/(loss) for the year fik] - - 33,451 (373,784) (340,333) (169) (340,502)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31A 62,296 122,011 202,697 166,721 553,725 (763) 552,962
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Year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A3HILEE

AtT April 2024

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year:
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations
Remeasurement gain on defined
benefit plan, net of tax

Total comprehensive
loss for the year

At 31 March 2025

*

position.

#2024 4 1A
AEEHR
AEEEMEE
WA/ (B8) :
BESNEBNERER

RERMAEINERRE -

il

AERZEFE

2025837318

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

Attributable to owners of the Company

4=
R

EQUITY (CONTINUED)

EREEHRE)

KARHRENEL
Retained
Capital profits/ Non-
Issued Share and other  (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserves losses) Total interests equity
ERE  RERR/

BRTRE R EE Hitfts  (REER) AR FERER ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BETT BETR BBTR BBTT

(note 39 (note 39
(note 29) ()(i) (c)(ii))
(H&E39 (H&E39
(Ht&E29) (©)(M) ()(i)
62,296 122,011 202,697 166,721 553,725 (763) 552,962
- - - (197,752) (197,752) (47) (197,799)
- - (3,699) - (3,699) 7 (3,692)
- - - 1,751 1,751 - 1,751
- - (3,699) (196,001) (199,700) (40) (199,740)
62,296 122,011* 198,998* (29,280)* 354,025 (803) 353,222

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$291,729,000  *
(31 March 2024: HK$491,429,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

WERFBRBEAXNGETBRRARZGEREBEE
291,729,0007T (20244E3 A 318 : #%491,429,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

I\‘/\ EE N7 //|L: i %

Year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A3HILEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax

Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income

Loss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on lease modification

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment

of trade receivables, net
Impairment of other receivables
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Fair value losses on investment
properties

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment

of inventories, net
Fair value loss on gold loan

094

REXBCRERE

BT B 5 1R
A
HBER
FLSUA
REWE BELREBRBER

WE - WERRETE

EREEENE
e E 2 Y
FEW AR ORERE) RE - F8E

H fth U R FORE
WE - BERRERE

FREEEREA
HEMENRANEBERE
(BEEE),/ BEFEENER
FE - FE
ELERNANBEELX

Notes

o aE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 & # T 7T
(166,139) (347,822)

73,915 90,893

1,378) (8,671

2,296 2,985

28,625 41136

53,798 100,532
(9,537) (7,434)

971) 301

- 1,067

16,651 36,782

42,549 58,490

1,793 7,390

(13,661) 36,595

1,737 3,492

39,678 15,736




Year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A3IHIEFE

Decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables
Decrease in other payables and accruals
Increase in employee benefit obligations

Cash flows generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax refunded
Taxes paid other than Hong Kong
Interest element of lease payments

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Withdrawal of pledged time deposits

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities

FRRD

FENBRFUR A (42 n)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Notes
Bt

R - ARG R A E R

FERTBRFRCRL ), # 00

HAb N R B RR D

BRERNELFEM
BEEBEENRS
FRMSHER

ENEBUIMERTIA

HEMFRNF B

REXGELZHEREFR

REFBH2RERE

R €S,
SHEMERERRD

BEWE  BELREHEE

14

ZEWME  BFEMREEAMSTR

RERBEE (A2

Reme s

HeRaRER(E)

2025 2024
20254 20244

HK$’000 &% T 5T HK$'000 ¥ F T
218,258 138,089
39,712 (1,554)

37,142 11,259

(29,375) 11,440

(41,681) (13,430)

16 9

263,750 161,549

2,497 6,242

(23,125) (13,863)

(6,438) (7,889)

236,684 146,039

1,378 8,671

234,121 61,556

(26,402) (77,730)

3,680 2,382

212,777 (5,121)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HeRaRER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3A3HILEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

RMETH2RSRE

Notes
Bt i

2025
20254
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T

2024
20244
HK$'000 BTt

New interest-bearing bank borrowings
Repayment of interest-bearing bank

borrowings
New gold loan
Repayment of gold loan

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

G ET B IR1TE RS FIR
BEFBRITER

MEESER
EEELER
HENKWASF S
ERAE

MEEZYIAZRERE
HER

32(b)

32(b)
32(b)
32(b)
32(b)

7,809 79,562
(347,347) (192,930)
9,226 12,693
(16,185) -
(87,033) (M5,807)
(67,477) (83,004)
(501,007) (299,486)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBESFEEYUZEL FR

EQUIVALENTS (51,546) (158,568)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REMZEELRIREEEY

of the year 179,967 348,282
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, SMEFEREE L - JFE

net 957 (9,747)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZEERELEEY
END OF THE YEAR 129,378 179,967

RERASEB/BUEFEIN

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

ReRREHEEY 22 129,378 179,967
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Penthouse level, 5 Reid Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is located at
Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, sale and
marketing of jewellery products and the provision of services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company is Partner
Logistics Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), and the ultimate holding company is Blink Technology Limited,
which is incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy Tse”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

BT 75 3R R MY &

RARKEER

BT E (HB) BRA8 ([ARQF ) ITREH
EAMKZ2EREEAT » AR A 2t EE
fZ A Penthouse level, 5 Reid Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermudaes ARRIZEFEREEABTBNELABR
WE0REE TR AREM B o

AEBZIBXBAEE  HE HERKBEERR
PR ARTS -

EERE  MEBELBESMKMPartner Logistics
Limited BEBIERAR  &EIERQBANKER
LSS BIBlink Technology Limited » &
IR AL RS -

B AR ZEH
ARTEEMBATZHBEET :

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and business registered share capital Company
Name BWRLEM BRTEE/ NS )iEt Principal activities
E4 REEE SR A REBAL TEER
Direct  Indirect
HiE 5
TSL Investment (B.V.l.) Limited BVI HK$1,000 100 - Investment holding
RBRAES ##1,0007T BEER
Ankenne Jewelry Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Jewellery trading
BEFREERAR 5 BT KEEH
Beijing Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited** The People’s Republic of United States dollars - 100 Jewellery
I RARBEREERAA China (“PRC") ("US$") 2,000,000 manufacturing and
e AR AME (R ]) 2,000,000% 7 trading
KERERES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

AAREEER (&)
B AR ZER (&)
ARREEWBLRZHBHOT  (8)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the

098

registration and business registered share capital Company
Name ZWRL R BRITLEE/ AT AL Principal activities
8 REEE SR A REESL TBER
Direct  Indirect
HE %
Concepts Management (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trademarks holding
BIREE (BE)ARATR BE BEIT and investment in
trademarks
BERERRERER
Edwine Jewellery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Investment holding and
NHHEERAA 5% BE1.0007T provision of advisory
services
BEERLREE AR
%
Excellent Ford Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BHEREBRAR BE ##10,0007T HEES
Gold Fast Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
SFREBRAR B BB BEER
Guangzhou Tai Yi Trading Company Limited** PRC HK$8,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
EMEEEEBRAR" FE ##8,000,0007T KEE S
Guangzhou Xi Yun Jewellery Company Limited*** PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
EMNEEHREBRAR FE AR#2,000,0007T KETE
Guangzhou Xiang Yun Jewellery Company Limited®™* PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BINEEREER AT FE AR#3,000,0007T KEES



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

1

Infinite Assets Corp.

Liberty Mark Limited

Richfun Enterprises Limited

CEPEXERAR

Shanghai Fu Yun Jewellery Company Limited®

LEREREERAR

Shenzhen Qianhai Tse Sui Luen Logistic Company
Limited**

AYELEA B R AR AR

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited (“TSLJ")#

ARMRBEAR LR ([FIRHMHKE])

Tse Sui Luen (Guangzhou) Jewellery Company
Limited*
Sinm (BN HEERAR

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

ABARIYL

REFHE

BVI
RERZES
BVI
RERAES
Hong Kong
)

PRC

HE

PRC

FE

Hong Kong
B

PRC
HE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. QFAREEER @
B AR ER (&)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital
BRTEE/
SR AR

HK$277,254
72772547
US$1

E

HK$1

BT
RMB1,000,000
AER#1,000,00070
RMB100,000
ARH100,0007T

HK$83,556,090
183,556,090 7T

HK$21,000,000
#121,000,0007T

Percentage of equity

attributable to the
Company
b NSiDg
RERDL
Direct  Indirect
HE i
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

B mERME(E)

ARRETEMBRRAZFBOT - (B)

Principal activities

FRER

Investment holding
REER
Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

REER

Jewellery retailing

KEZTE

Logistics and supply
chain management

Wi R ERE S

Jewellery trading and
retailing

BEBIRTE

Manufacture and
distribution of
jewellery and
franchising

HRERE  HERNE
%%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

100

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

A%

Tse Sui Luen Investment (China) Limited
HIRERRE (FE) BRATF
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited®#

HIHBHRE ST (RE) BRAF ([HHRBERE )
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Retailing Sdn. Bhd.

Tse Sui Luen (Hainan) Jewellery Limited®*4

IR 8% GEERAF A

Tse Sui Luen (Shanghai) Commercial Consultancy
Limited**

BB () B RAERAT"

Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Jewellery Company
Limited*

HEB ORI REER DA

Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Trading Limited®**
Hinit ORI BERRAF

TSL Jewellery (Export) Company Limited
HIEAE (MA) BRAR

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

ABRYL
REXBH

BVI
ERELHS
Hong Kong
BB
Malaysia

¥ i

PRC
HE

PRC
HE

PRC
HE

PRC
hE

Hong Kong
)

1. 2RARAEREEER @)
B AR ZER (&)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital
BRTEE/
MR

US$6.863

6,863% 7T

HK$201,000
B#201,0007T

Malaysian Ringgits
3,300,000
BHAE%3,300,0007T
RMB1,000,000
AR#1,000,0007C

RMB500,000
AR #500,0007T

HK$12,500,000
##12,500,0007T

RMB1,000,000
AR#1,000,0007T
HK$19,824,775
7#1£19,824,775 7L

Percentage of equity

attributable to the

Company
NN N
REBDL
Direct  Indirect
HE i
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

AAREZEZMBRARZFBOT - (F)

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding
REZK
Property holding
HEME
Jewellery retailing
KETE

No business
commenced yet

U AREREE

Cash management
service

REBERB

Manufacture and
distribution of
jewellery

KRERER D

Jewellery trading

KEZS

Jewellery trading and
retailing

KEEHNTE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2QFAREEER @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BRI ZER (#)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREBHBARZFFIBLOT « (8)

(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and business registered share capital Company
Name BB R BRITEE/ KT G Principal activities
g REEHE SR AR REFSL FTEXK
Direct  Indirect
HE i
TSL Jewellery (Macau) Limited Macau Macau Pataca - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLIKE (RPY) BRAF) P (“MOP") 100,000 KETE
$BP9#100,0007T
TSL Jewellery Retailing (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLHKBEZE (P RAA P #F9#£100,0007T KEZTE
TSL Jewellery Commercial (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLAKER % ORFT) RAR] R RPI#100,0007T KETE
TSL Jewellery (HK.) Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$42,000,390 - 100 Jewellery retailing,
HIRBIAE (B8) BRAA aE #142,000,3907T trademarks holding,
investment in
trademarks and
management and
administrative
services
ISR
Fﬁﬂ&ﬁ& B R
R
TSL Management Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Management and
HRBEERBARA i BT administrative
services
B RATHRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

1.  CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. QAREEER @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZER (@)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREBHBARZFFBOT « (8)

(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and business registered share capital Company
Name ZWRL R BRITLEE/ AT AL Principal activities
8 REEE SR A REESL TBER
Direct  Indirect
HE %
TSL Manufacturing and Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$67,000,000 - 100 Investment holding,
AmBARER D HAR DA B #%67,000,0007T procurement,
manufacture and
distribution of
jewellery
R EKE
TSL Properties Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Property holding and
B EEEERAA s B E1,0007T investment
HEMERRE
TSL Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
B BT BEME
TSLJ Kabushiki Kaisha*** Japan Japanese Yen - 96.5  Jewellery retailing and
TSLJRA &4t AR 75,000,000 wholesales
75,000,000 H7T KETERIE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

# Unofficial translation

i In addition to the ordinary shares of HK$46,982,090, the issued deferred
share capital of TSLJ is HK$36,574,000

e In addition to the ordinary shares of HK$1,000, the issued deferred share
capital of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited is HK$200,000

* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign enterprise

o Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company

e Registered under the laws of Japan as a limited liability company

A Deregistered on 30 May 2025

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

M mRME(E)

AEREEER (&
B AR AR (@)
ARFEEMBARZHENT « (48)

=

FEXESR

“ %R A 546,982,090 TN - HREIEAE 2
TEFEAR AN 475 %36,574,000 7T

e R ERAE 000705 - Fif I B R L AR AT
B A A3 ¥ 200,000 7T

. RIBPBEDEEEMAMNERE

- REPEDZREMABREELT)

o RIBAREEEMAEREMERR

A R2025%45 30 B tHERD
EERBLERAMIIEARR 2B R TJ%IR =2

REEEERBERAREFEELTEANDNA
EER/RHEMHBARZFHE Hﬂﬁi&%¢§i@§°
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 7 4R &

2.

104

=M ECE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and gold loan which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss for the year of HK$198 million during
the year ended 31 March 2025, and as of 31 March 2025 the Group
had cash and bank balances (including pledged time deposits)
of HK$188 million while total interest-bearing bank borrowings
amounted to HK$721 million of which HK$678 million was classified
as current liabilities. The jewellery industry has continued to
experience a downward trend mainly contributed by significant
decline in consumer demand for natural diamond jewellery
especially in the Mainland market. Further, the Group also breached
certain financial covenants for some of its bank borrowings and
banking facilities for which waivers from the related banks were
obtained before the end of the financial reporting period.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the related banks
have extended the maturity date of a principal instalment of HK$36
million from mid-May 2025 to mid-June 2025. The Group has repaid
the principal instalment according to the revised timeline.

2.

BEBE

2.1

45 g o

WEFBREDRBRELEGTMASHEOOE
f’éﬂﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ ( BEMATEN
WEER  BEGTEARRE) REERA
GO BEESIREMRE - RARAEBEE
ZEREWERESEFI  WEUBREI TR
ELRAEREREL - IWFHMBHERAETZ
W BRERSNA - MEEESABREREEN
TLER -

RAFE  AEEE55%198,000,0007T
B8 - BIE2025F3A31H  SENHE G
LiRTTHES (BREEEFETHER) ABK
188,000,000 © Mt BIR{TERBEE AAE
721,000,000 7T - EEP%MNS 000,000 7T %
DEARDAE LKBETEREZ T EBS
FTERANEBEHRAABAKENT KR
TB¢ CEERAMTE - BN REBINER
DIRITEERBITREEENE THHR
R E SRS B R AT D SRR R ©

NABBREB% - HERTES —248¢ A
B #36,000,000 2 0 HRE R EIHA B #2025
FSARBEE2025F6 AFF - AEEBR
Bala 2 ERHMRENZESHLAS -



2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern (continued)

In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

BERLRIER - ARREEEFEAEER
BERAVBERSERLER CEEZES
BARERBDESNRER - UREABEE K
R o RERRBEENFREMBRR - K

assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. The following plans and measures
have been undertaken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve the financial position of the Group:

EEREUA T RT3 Rt

(@) The Group continues to transform its business model (a) SEBFEEETESEAELN (LEER
(especially in the Mainland market) and restructure the store %) REMEPITT G IARFHE
network to improve the sales;

(b)  The Group will actively manage inventory to an optimal level by AEBKBEABEAMSHR BHREE
by monitoring market demands, thereby minimizing carrying BEFEHENKTE - xR E R
excess stock while preventing shortages; ETFAE - R L=

(¢)  The Group has implemented various cost control strategies, () ZAEBEEHEZIBERANLTIKRE  WFE
such as streamlining organization functions by relocating BABEHRE - KIRERE TAHS
staff resources and substantially reducing staff headcount; F RS REE - A
and

(d) The Group will continue to closely monitor its compliance () AEBEBEEZEREHBITRES

with financial covenants for banking facilities and bank
borrowings and will actively negotiate with banks to obtain
waivers as needed in order to avoid banks from requesting
immediate repayment of any outstanding bank borrowings
drawn under the banking facilities, such that the facilities and
bank borrowings will continue to be available to the Group.
The Group will also proactively engage in discussions with
banks to negotiate renewal of banking facilities with more
favourable financial covenants and terms.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2.

106

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 March 2025. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, taking into account the anticipated cash
flows to be generated from the Group’s operations as well as the
above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations and commitments as and
when they fall due for a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 March 2025. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2.

108

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(a)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no
sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. BFEE @
22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 GETHREBEEZEE (8)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b)  (continued) (by (&)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

2.3

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments’

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,

Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

2.

n2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS
33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group'’s financial statements.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it
is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their
specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a
financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met.
The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component
of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without the use
of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at the
same time or only the amendments related to the classification of
financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2.

N4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFERS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the
“own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the
designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging
relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments also include
additional disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial
performance and future cash flows. The amendments relating
to the own-use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial application.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

2.

16

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11
set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3
of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

2.

2EBUR (@)

2.3

BEEMERER 2 BB HREER]
SEER (®)

BB SRR SRR 2 A — ET
BEEEHBRELRNE G  BEYTBER
ERAIETI (BN > BB BREENE
7HEHIZS]) BEMBREER TR F
AR EEENEI0RREAG T ENE TS
ZIEETA o FEHE AR A EE 2 S A B I
T

. BEBYBRELNEIRLHTA
E RSB AR BB B BREE
B 75 EBISBRIA KRB B iR & &
AIZE 75 55/ %161 ~ 1G14 K& 1G20B
BrzaATHEE  AEMCsEERHEA
ERSA K/ sk E b 2E B BT BB B o Rl RE
REF— - WO ZEERIAEEEEF
B ISR E R 758 Bt #5 5] R W 51 PR
EEVIBREERBF IR MEE
FIBME « INEIERTINATE - 251
RIANEEREEA - BHZEEITAT
SHAKEZMBHREREETNERY

@,
=

. ERUBRMEENFEINEHITA * %
LI AEBARARBE ST ERE
HAFOFETHERBDEER &
MABEASEVHHREERFIRSE
3336 - WRIBm P ERITEE Z M
WES Sk E 1S o WA - ZEERIAEEN
BRI REERNFEIRESIIBERE
BT R A ERFIEMBAZE TH
B DUBRBREBTERE - ZE B A E
IREEA - BHZEEIATSH AL
BB BRREETMNERTE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

. HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and gold loan at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

2EBUR (@)
24 EXZEBER (&)

FERI BB ERE ()

REEREHAR JEFHILEEPRETE
EFEERREBERTBEAERAEDLR
Lo MEAEAZERS  EhATRE S
HoBREEN EREEREEZTRESHR
ZEFH IR B - RENCERZRERE
JIRAIEEE - M E A R A E Y R
ERDRERE - IS LErE Mgz KA
B SHeEAEED - FAREBREZED
REEEHFABRRA -

BEAL
ETIERT  — AR EREAREERE

@ BHA-BALIBZALZEZEE
MEAL :

()  BRESR[E G A 15 R s R
3

(i) HASEHREEATEN =X

(i) REAKEXAEEFGRAZEE
EHAR

pe



2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

()

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

@

(i

(D)

(iv)

W)

(vi)

(vi)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates and
estimated useful lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 2% to 5%

3to 7 years

1to 10 years

410 10 years

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2.

124

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:

Prepaid land lease

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Buildings

50 years
410 10 years
1to 10 years

2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of furniture and fixtures
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease term and is included in other income and gains, net in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent
rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, gold loan, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains
or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for
the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis for homogenous
items while it is determined on an actual unit cost basis for certain
unique or specific items and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset,
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss
net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. EFTBCGE @
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 BREFHEEK(®)

Income tax (continued) Fris® (&)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all RMERRCEERBERERETITBR

temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between XEHE HAMEEREZE - AiRAEE

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for TRIRIER IR -

financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary RSN - TERERBEREEE2OBRAER

differences, except: ERIEAE -

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial . WERR—TEIFEREAHTHZFRIIX
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction BRAMENEENBEMEEZELER
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the HEE  MEXRSHRE B HER
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable MAFNLEEEZERTEASRE
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and FRAA IS ER . &
deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with . HHERMB AR ZINE 7 ERRE T
investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the reversal ZEME  MEBLYREER M
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is ATLAES] AR E R E R KA EETE

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in A R R o
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of jewellery products

Revenue from the sale of jewellery products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the jewellery products.

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide
customers with rights of return giving rise to variable
consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

Sale of jewellery products (continued)

0]

(i

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right
to return the goods within a specified period, the
expected value method is used to estimate the goods
that will not be returned because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements
in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be
included in the transaction price. For goods that are
expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and
the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group maintains loyalty points programmes within
its retail shops in Hong Kong and the PRC, which allow
customers to accumulate award credits upon purchase
of goods in the shops and joining the programmes. The
award credits can then be redeemed for goods or other
gifts, subject to certain terms and conditions. Under
HKFRS 15, the customer loyalty programme gives
rise to a separate performance obligation because
it provides a material right to the customer and the
Group will allocate a portion of the transaction price to
the loyalty credits awarded to customers based on the
relative stand-alone selling price.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Service income

Service income is recognised over the scheduled period on
a straight line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group
updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to the
expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the value
of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC, Malaysia and Japan are required to participate in central
pension schemes operated by the local municipal government.
Contributions are made based on the requirements of the respective
local municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments

The Group’s statutory obligation to make long service payments
is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits relating to
long service payments is determined using the projected unit credit
method. The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of long service payments is the net
obligation, representing the present value of the future long service
payment benefits reduced by entitlements from accrued benefits
arising from MPF contributions made by the Group.

Remeasurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, and
investment returns associated with the MPF employer contributions
and other experience adjustments (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are debited or
credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
. the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments (continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability. The Group recognises the following
changes in the net defined benefit obligations under “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss by function:

. service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

. net interest expense or income

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries located in
jurisdictions other than Hong Kong are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the
determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide customers with
a right of return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to exercise judgement to
determine the use of either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate
method to use in estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
jewellery with rights of return, given the large number of customer
contracts that have similar characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery (continued)

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction
price, the Group considers whether the amount of variable consideration
is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short
time frame.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held
by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
location and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the retail sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges of its property, plant and equipment. These estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, and will write off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and, therefore, depreciation charge in the
future periods.

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
values of these assets exceed their recoverable amounts, which is the
higher of their fair value less costs of disposal and their value in use. The
calculation of the fair values less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

MBBEME(E)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
estimate and the level of future taxable profits. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2025
was HK$4,350,000 (2024: HK$7,023,000). The amount of unrecognised
deferred tax assets at applicable tax rates relating to tax losses at 31
March 2025 was HK$217,763,000 (2024: HK$187,732,000). Further details
are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
a significant downturn in the industry sector. The directors reassess the
estimations at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on business nature and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) Retail Business (including Hong Kong, Macau, the Mainland and
Malaysia);

(b)  Wholesale Business;
(c)  E-Business; and

(d)  Other Businesses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 7 4R &
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=M ECE)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Retail Business includes direct retail sales of jewellery products to
end consumers through the physical outlets carrying the trademark of
TSL | #3B%; DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI. It also includes the service fee
income received from the provision of retail management services to
other retailers.

Wholesale Business includes wholesale sales of jewellery products to
customers, including franchisees.

E-Business includes sales of jewellery products to customers on
e-commerce platforms.

Other Businesses include others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except that unallocated
expenses, fair value loss on gold loan, fair value losses on investment
properties and non-lease-related finance costs are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and tax recoverable as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude gold loan, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and employee benefit obligations as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 March 2025

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers

Service income from external customers

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Unallocated expenses

Fair value loss on gold loan

Fair value losses on investment
properties

Finance costs (other than interest
on lease liabilities)

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Deferred tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Reconciliation:

Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Tax payable

Deferred tax liabilities

Employee benefit obligations

Total liabilities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4,

EoEER (|

B mERME(E)

Retail Business
BELR
HK$'000 % F 1t

1,098,455
107,978

Wholesale Business
HRER
HK$'000 B#F 1t

180,513

E-Business
ETHEER
HK$'000 % F 1t

285,713

HK$'000 % T 7t

Other
Businesses Total
iR o
HK$'000 % F 1t

39,638 1,604,319
- 107,978

1,206,433

180,513

285,713

39,638 1,712,297

(70,644)

1,591,211

(502,251)

65,064

22,738

(59,467)

(4,039)

53,884

(9,097

(2,100) (11,719)

(73,413)
(1,737)

(1,793)

(67,477)

(166,139)
(31,660)

(197,799)

1,063 1,668,896
10,702
2,599

1,682,197

(1,499) (572,314)
(10,963)
(720,671)
(2,133)
(21,568)
(1,326)

(1,328,975)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REZHER @)
Other
Retail Business ~ Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total
Year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) #Z2025%3A318 BEEK BRER ETHEER HipEw @it
ILEE (8) HK$'000 BT HK$000 BT  HK$000 BT  HK$000 BEFr  HKS000 BT
Other segment information HithAHER
Depreciation of: FE:
Property, plant and equipment 0% BEREE 20,492 - 2,047 6,086 28,625
Right-of-use assets FREEE 47,124 - - 6,674 53,798
Impairment of; e -
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERX 13,961 - 2,354 336 16,651
Right-of-use assets EREEE 41,835 - 625 89 42,549
Capital expenditure* BARY: 26,353 - - 49 26,402
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EBABXBEANEDE  MENEE -

equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBBEME(E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4, REHEHER @)

Year ended 31 March 2024

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers
Service income from external customers

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Unallocated expenses

Fair value loss on gold loan

Fair value losses on investment
properties

Finance costs (other than interest
on lease liabilities)

Loss hefore tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Deferred tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Reconciliation:

Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Tax payable

Deferred tax liabilities

Employee benefit obligations

Total liabilities
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Retail Business

HK$'000 BE T

Wholesale Business
BEER
HK$'000 B%F 7T

TERR

1,846,206 378,442
92,580 -

E-Business
ETHERR
HK$'000 B%F 7T

328,114

Other
Businesses Total
Hib % @5t
HK$'000 B%FL  HK$'000 BETFT

9285 2,562,047
- 92,580

1,938,786 378,442

328114

9,285 2,654,627

(216,879) 56,452

267,836 56,522

(609,490) (66,986)

(4,498)

92,967

(1,062)

2,193 (162,132)

(91804)
(3.492)

(7,390)

(83,004)

(347.822)
(26,524)

(374,346)

3905 2321230
34,518

5524

2361272

(840) (688,378)



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4., &

Retail Business  Wholesale Business

&0 ERE R (@)
Other
E-Business Businesses
BETHEER b
HK$000 BT HK$000 A% T
1,845 4,807
- 10,460
1,550 3313

Total
3t

HK$'000 BT

41136
100,532

36,782
58,490
71,730

Year ended 31 March 2024 (continued) EZ2024%3A31R TEEH REEH
L5E () HK$000 BT HK$000 A% T
Other segment information HthAHEH

Depreciation of: wE:
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERIE 34312 172
Right-of-use assets ERELE 90,072 -

Impairment of: A
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERX 36,782 -
Right-of-Use assets FRELE 58,490 -
Capital expenditure* BARY: 72867 -
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and :

equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(a) Geographical information

Revenue from external customers

Hong Kong and Macau BB KR
The Mainland A
Other countries HEMBER

The revenue information above is based on the geographical
locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

Hong Kong and Macau B MR
The Mainland A,
Other countries HEiBExR

The non-current asset information above is based on the
geographical locations of the assets and excludes rental deposits
and deferred tax assets.

(b) Information about major customers

The turnover from the Group’s largest customer amounted to less
than 10% of the Group’s total turnover for the years.

RS ER (#®)

(a) HEER

MBBEME(E)

BN EEFEZWA
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 B¥ T 5t HK$'000 B+t
485,698 821,390
1,064,620 1,687,152
161,979 146,085
1,712,297 2,654,627

EEREENDIREPAEIBLES S

FREEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 ¥ F T
231,243 267,785
102,342 162,675
15,378 5,289
348,963 435,749

ESEREBEEE IR EEMEMIEMEE

s

o WA BEEERE MRERIREE -

(b)) BHEEXEREFZEHR

RAFER E—ERBRFE - REAEERK
BEPZERBNARBEREETYLTI0%
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MR E(E)

5.

164

TURNOVER

An analysis of turnover is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

Year ended 31 March 2025
Segments

Types of goods or services
Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Total

Geographical markets

Hong Kong and Macau
The Mainland
Other countries

Total

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total

5. MR
EEBIOWHWAT :
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 &# T T HK$'000 BTt
HIE FEFTRIA ATRA
HENE 1,604,319 2,562,047
BRAS U A 107,978 92,580
1,712,297 2,654,627
HERBERITHE DA
() DEUZEH
Wholesale Other
Retail Business Business E-Business Businesses Total
HZ202553831RLERE SEEK HBER ETHELR ERLES @i
28 HK$'000 BT HK$'000 BEFL  HK$000 BEFR  HK$000 BEFR  HK$000 BETF T
EREmEER
HEREEH 1,098,455 180,513 285,713 39,638 1,604,319
PR 107,978 - - - 107,978
it 1,206,433 180,513 285,713 39,638 1,712,297
BETS
BERAM 445,300 - 2,279 38119 485,698
At 600,673 180,513 283,434 - 1,064,620
AR 160,460 - - 1,519 161,979
b 1,206,433 180,513 285,713 39,638 1,712,297
KERANE
sREEn 1,098,455 180,513 285,713 39,638 1,604,319
gz —BEER 107,978 - - - 107,978
it 1,206,433 180,513 285,713 39,638 1,712,297




5.

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024
Segments

Types of goods or services
Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Total

Geographical markets

Hong Kong and Macau
The Mainland
Other countries

Total

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total

5. EEHE@
HRPRITHE LA (8)
() ZDEKZER ()
Wholesale Other

Retail Business Business E-Business Businesses Total
HE2024F3A3BLEE TEEK BEER BYEEER O b
A8 HK$'000 BT HKS000 BT  HKS000 BT  HKS000 BEFL  HK$000 B¥ T
ERSREER
HEREEH 1,846,206 378,442 38114 9,285 2,562,047
FRAMA 92,580 - - - 92,580
e 1938786 378442 38114 9,285 2,654,627
BEHS
BB AN 808,680 - 4018 8,692 821,390
it 984,614 378,442 324,096 - 1687152
EER 145,492 - - 593 146,085
ey 1938786 378442 38114 9,285 2,654,627
KERREE
TERERE 1846,206 378,442 38114 9,285 2,562,047
g 2 —BSER 92,580 - - - 92,580
it 1938786 378442 3287114 9,285 2,654,627
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5.

166

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

)]

(in

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contact
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in contract

>N

)]

RIREHVIRIIAA LD

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BfEBRERKE :
Sales of jewellery products HEKREEM
Performance obligations (i)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of jewellery products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is mainly settled in cash or by credit card for Retail
Business, E-business and Other Businesses. For Wholesale Business,
payment is generally due within 30 days. Some contracts provide
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of the goods.

Service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and short-term advances are normally required before
rendering the services. Service contracts are for periods of one year
or less, or are billed based on the time incurred. All the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.

By
e

A (4

F# TE’J:.,\WW\

7 E W as EF ()

TRERNARE B AR AR RS S
JINEHBEZRESRE AL BEHRET

R BHETERZKESHE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 &¥F T HK$'000 B+t
12,970 16,488
JBHET

AEBERNBEEZBEERRANT -

HEHE

BUOBER DM EREER - BHBEH TR
Rf430 B MBS - BEES  BEFEE
EHREMEY  EBRAEENRS RIEA
%F”o%ﬁé%ﬁ@ﬁk(ﬁﬁ%'mmﬁ
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Interest income

Foreign exchange differences, net

Government grants*

Fair value loss on gold loan

Fair value losses on investment
properties (note 15)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. HWARWE FE

FLEWA

JHE R ERR

BT RA
BELERORABEEBR
REMEH R AEBEEE (HFE15)

Repair service income HEAS RIS WA
Rental income el A
Gain on lease modification [EREEFoles
Others HAh
* The government grants represented subsidies from municipal *

governments in the Mainland and the Government of the HKSAR.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

subsidies.

B mERME(E)

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T HK$'000 &% F T
1,378 8,671
(7,136) (115)
528 2,047
1,737) (3,492)
(11,793) (7,390)
726 978
4,296 3,443
9,537 7,434
6,338 5,198
2,137 16,774

It T %8 B R T R AT R B 1T R B BUR B 4R
EVFERE o B BEEARET Z EI AL

ALz THEE M -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

BRELAIE R
AEBEZBHABED TR (GTA)

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7.

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Cost of goods sold* HE A 1,142,445 1,832,367
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of GERE (D), &E  F8
inventories, net (13,661) 36,595
Depreciation of; e -
Property, plant and equipments (note 14) Y - BE &GRE (FTaE4) 28,625 41,136
Right-of-use assets (note 16(a)) FRAEAE (M&16@) 53,798 100,532
Lease payments not included in FrEHEaERITE
the measurement of lease liabilities** BIEERNZ HERIE
(note 16(c)) (FFEE18(0)) 18,981 10,339
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREN BN & 3,218 2,700
Gain on lease modification EREFolle (9,537) (7,434)
Employee benefit expense (including EERAAZ (BRESEK
directors’ and chief executive’s FETHAEZ
remuneration (note 9)): B (FF5E9)) -
Wages, salaries and other benefits IT& @ #FekHEMmEF 295,340 485,822
Termination benefits B AR A 37,556 43,336
Pension scheme contributions*** VA TE HFURIRET & 0 4,962 7,022
Employee benefit obligations (note 27) BERFZES (HE27) 603 645
338,461 536,825




7.

LOSS BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(continued)

Impairment of:

Property, plant and equipment (included in
selling and distribution expenses)

Property, plant and equipment

(included in administrative expenses)

Impairment of:
Right-of use assets (included in

selling and distribution expenses)

Right-of-use assets (included in
administrative expenses)

Impairment of other receivables (note 21)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of

trade receivables, net (note 20)
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. BREAIESE @)

A
WE - BB REE (EREER
DIEBERT)
ME - BB k&
(BERTTRERT)

A
EREEE
(BREERDIHERT)
ERREE (BRTTRERT)

E b FE MR RORE (BI3E21)

FEUBR X CRUERIE) RE -
SFEE (FIFE20)

BEEVE BMEALEBEZ
[

Cost of goods sold includes HK$64,514,000 (2024: HK$109,340,000) *
relating to employee benefit expense, depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, and depreciation of right-of-use assets, which are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above

under each of these types of expenses.

Not including commission payments in relation to sales counters in
department stores and shopping malls.

* At 31 March 2025, there were no forfeited contributions available to the

*k

Group to reduce its contributions to pension schemes in future years

(2024: Nil).

B mERME(E)

AEEBHAEER NG (GEA) : (8)

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 B¥ T 5t HK$'000 BTt
14,751 33,000
1,900 3,782
16,651 36,782
41,749 57,000
800 1,490
42,549 58,490
- 1,067

971) 301
2,296 2,985

SHER AR BIEABE 64,514,000 (2024
& 1 #1109,340,000L) WEERBFIRAL - ¥
¥ BELSBNERFERAEEENE  BEe
BIE DRI AL LA S EAERIR S -

TEEXNTHEZBERANEEARTNME -

202543 A31H » NEEIWE D KM AT
AR RFE R RINGTEIMR (20244 « 8) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HBER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WKEBRZHITIAT

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 &# T 5T HK$'000 7 F T

Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and RITER B RETCERNFE
other loans 61,099 79,025
Interest on lease liabilities HESENFE 6,438 7,889
Other charges HibhBA 6,832 6,636
74,369 93,550
Less: Interest capitalised B FBERE (454) (2,657)
73,915 90,893

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EBEERIETHAEZHE

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed B LR FEQILEAMIEI83I(@G) ~ (b) ()
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the REOFARAT (FREREENmER) ROIFE25 -
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure KREBEZEENTETHABZMESBEENT ¢
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 &# F T HK$'000 ¥ F T
Fees e 648 706
Other emoluments: EHAbEBA -
Salaries and allowances e MoERR 4,533 8,029
Pension scheme contributions VETE SRR IR 18 18
4,551 8,047
5,199 8,753
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9.

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Included in the directors’ remuneration were fees of HK$648,000 paid
to Independent Non-executive Directors (2024: HK$706,000) during the

year.

Year ended 31 March 2025
Executive directors:
Yau On Yee, Annie, J¢'
Ng Yi Kum, Estella?

Non-executive directors:
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher*
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael*
Chan, Alex**

H1E2025F3A31HILEE
BTES:

BLE (7))

R

FHTES:
BaE
BRis R
BRIERE

B mERME(E)

EERFTETHAEZHE @)

EEHCERRNTFAXNTBEIFRTEETAAE
648,0007T (20244 : E#706,0007T)

Pension
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
EEMK
e  FeRER  BAGEMN wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BET T BETT
- 4,204 18 4,222
- 329 - 329
- 4,533 18 4,551
216 - - 216
216 - - 216
216 - - 216
648 - - 648
648 4,533 18 5,199
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EERITETHAEZEME @)
(CONTINUED)

Pension
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
EE R
we FeRER  RIREEIHR FCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT BT BT
Year ended 31 March 2024 H1E2024F3A31HLEEE
Executive directors: HITER:
Yau On Yee, Annie, J¢' B (x Fait) - 4,443 18 4,461
Ng Yi Kum, Estella? hmE? - 3,586 - 3,586
- 8,029 18 8,047
Non-executive directors: FHTESE:
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* ARE 216 - - 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* ERC 106 - - 106
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* PR A4 e * 216 - - 216
Chan, Alex™ RERR" 168 - - 168
706 - - 706
706 8,029 18 8,753
* Independent Non-executive Directors * B FFHITES
! Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp is also the chief executive officer of the Group. ! R EL L (hxFwt) MeRANEBRNITHRER -
2 Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella resigned as an executive director of the Group on 2 HEELTNR2024F5 827 HBHEAREBH1TE
27 May 2024. EFo
B Mr. Chan, Alex was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 3 FR1ERE A EN2023F6 A21HEZT AL IEH
on 21 June 2023. 1TEE o
“ Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert retired as an Independent Non-executive 4 EECHEAN2023F9 27 HEEAREEF  IF
Director on 27 September 2023. HITES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBBEME(E)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EERFETBASEZ#ME (@)
(CONTINUED)
There were no other emoluments payable to the Independent Non- FRAVEEMOMESENS TBIIERTES (2024
executive Directors during the year (2024: Nil). FE)
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to FRNEEVEILEMRESIRERETAHEH
waive any remuneration during the year (2024: Nil). ZHE (20244 « £E) »
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. TEESHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one director FALEBRELESHWESBIE1R (2024F : 2
(2024: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. H)ES  HFEMSEREN LM - AFE
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2024: EHfp44 (20244 : 38) Zem B MBEE S N IEE BT
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief BMAEMFAMSERNT ¢
executive of the Company are as follows:
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 B#¥F T HK$'000 ## F T
Salaries and allowances e MoRRL 9,409 5,427
Performance related bonuses EA5RIB AR 2 IEAL 204 94
Pension scheme contributions A TE MEFGRIRETBIE 3R 44 54
9,657 5,575
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration BMENTUTHIZ ZEFHWEESRE 2 AZD
fell within the following bands is as follows: N
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH BB A
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 71,500,001 7T 28 % 2,000,000 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 7B#2,000,001 7 & A% 2,500,000 7T 2 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 7B 3.000,0017C 2 8% 3,500,000 7T 1 -
4 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED) 10.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2024 Nil).

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
(2024: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable in places other than Hong Kong
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

Current - Hong Kong BNE — &%
Overprovision in prior years BEFE 2 BERE

Current - Outside Hong Kong BNHER — FALASN

Deferred (note 28) IRIE (FF5E28)
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TEREHFMNES @)

FALREEREATALLZESHTHEE NS
(2024% : &) - {ERBEEIARAE A K B B
ZHE - SHERBERAE -

FeHRER

HRAEERFRLREREBELEMERB
wA - AL AR BN SR LB (2024 F ¢
) o REBENE B AN R L E 2 R E H T
o ARESEMAERDEER ZBITHEE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
(2,219) -
22,760 16,167
1,119 10,357
31,660 26,524




1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory rates
Expenses not deductible for tax
Income not subject to tax
Tax losses utilised from previous periods
Tax losses and temporary differences
not recognised
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on
the distributable profits of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate of
-19.1% (2024 -7.1%)

B 15 B S 4R

BEFERE
AR X
BRI 2 AN

A LA AR 2 R & 18
AERGRBERLEREZR

SETENBRTZADIREF5%

BIMEREE

ShOASE ERRT 2 BB E AR EI AR

AR M-19.1% 5 0B E
(20244 : -7.0%) #HE 2 FH1E

B mERME(E)

FEHER @
BAARRTENBARNFEEERHNR /4 E
FIEE > A Rt B E B R R AT B2
BEr AT

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(166,139) (374,822)
(13,468) (49,506)
15,493 5,158
(3,321) (8,526)
(3,135) (2,878)
50,771 70,044
(12,461) 12,232
(2,219) -
31,660 26,524
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

12. DIVIDENDS 12.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 13.

COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$197,752,000 (2024:
HK$374,198,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
249,182,030 (2024: 249,182,030) outstanding during the year.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

176

[ g=\

EESTEATIREZ2025F 2024538318 I+
FEKE -

RRARFERABEBRER

EREABEBCBENEAFEARREES ARMLE
BB #197,752,0007T (2024 5 « 7##374,198,000
T)RFANBBITENLTEBR Z NEFHIR
249,182,0308% (20244 : 249,182,030%) 71 & -

HE2025F K2024F3A3NAIEFE » ARRWER
EEBEBEZORITERK -



As at 31 March 2025

At 1 April 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2024

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the year

Impairment during the year

Exchange realignment

Capitalisation of amortisation
of prepaid land lease to
construction in progress

At 31 March 2025, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2025:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2025538311

202444 AR
AR
R HERRE

REFE

720244 A8
NE

£
FANERRE

= poyie
3t BE

BHLWREERE
Al ARRTRE

202593 A318 -
MR REHTE
FRE

7202593 A31A

AR

R ERRE

REFE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mERME(E)

14. W% - BERRHE

Furniture,
fixtures
Plant and and Motor Construction
Buildings machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
&L £B
BF RBERMSE BT AE ERIR mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT BET T BETT BETRT BT T BETT
27,799 23,841 471,480 6,313 90,657 620,090
(11,555) (18,330) (445,552) (6,235) - (481,672)
16,244 5,511 25,928 78 90,657 138,418
16,244 5,511 25,928 78 90,657 138,418
- 1,305 24,457 - 640 26,402
- (67) (5,909) - - (5,976)
(1,579) (1,975) (25,071) - - (28,625)
(1,900) - (14,751) - - (16,651)
- (4) (233) - (967) (1,204)
- - - - 595 595
12,765 4,770 4,421 78 90,925 112,959
27,799 23,604 429,536 6,307 90,925 578,171
(15,034) (18,834) (425,115) (6,229) - (465,212)
12,765 4,770 4,421 78 90,925 112,959
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

14.

178

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024

At 1 April 2023:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2023

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the year

Impairment during the year

Exchange realignment

Surplus on revaluation

Capitalisation of amortisation
of prepaid land lease to
construction in progress

Transfer to investment
properties

At 31 March 2024, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

R2024F3A318

M2023F4R18 :
PR
R MERRE

REFE

M202354 A1H
RE

e
FRNERR

FARE
B 5t T
BhiRH%
BN LEERHE
AMepEETE

HERBEME

M2024F3A31H
Mk REHTE
RORiE

M2024F3A31A :

PR

RETE RRE

REFE

14. Y¥E - BEKRHRE @

Furniture,
fixtures
Plant and and Construction
Buildings machinery equipment Motor vehicles  in progress Total
ik RE
BF  BERESE B Pk TR ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BETFT T T BT T BT T
32,743 20,743 492,704 6,350 53,886 606,426
(7,528) (17,256) (423,656) (6,261) - (454,701)
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
- 4,181 35,619 - 37,930 77,730
- (319) (5,048) - - (5,367)
(761) (1,793) (38,572) (10) - (41,136)
(3,462) - (33,320) - - (36,782)
- (45) (1,799) m (1,760) (3,605)
10,666 - - - - 10,666
- - - - 601 601
(15,414) - - - - (15,414)
16,244 5,511 25,928 78 90,657 138,418
27,799 23,841 471,480 6,313 90,657 620,090
(1,555) (18,330) (445,552) (6,235) - (481,672)
16,244 5,511 25,928 78 90,657 138,418




14.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s land and buildings in
Hong Kong and construction in progress in the Mainland were pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are
disclosed in notes 33(a), 33(b) and 33(c) to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the premises permits in respect of the
property interests held under long term leases in the Mainland have not
been issued by the relevant PRC government authority. The net carrying
amount of the properties was HK$2 (2024: HK$2) at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s management identified certain retail shops
which were loss-making and a property with impairment indicator and
performed impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment for
the identified retail shops and the property with impairment indicator and
estimated the corresponding recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in
use calculation.

An impairment loss of HK$14,751,000 (2024: HK$33,000,000) was
recognised during the year to write down the carrying amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment of certain retail shops to their estimated
recoverable amounts of Nil (2024: HK$6,623,000) as at 31 March 2025.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units for retail shops are
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of the
respective property, plant and equipment. The pre-tax discount rates
applied for the cash flow projections ranged from 9.3% to 14.7% (2024
10.8% to 11.4%).

An impairment loss of HK$1,900,000 (2024: HK$3,782,000) was
recognised during the year to write down the carrying amount of the
property. The recoverable amount of the building portion of the property
of HK$2,400,000 (2024: HK$4,200,000) with impairment indicator was
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal.

14.

B mERME(E)

ME - BERRE @

RNEFER  AEBEFBNE T L RBFUARE
MW ER TP CFERRUBSAKERTRE
fBE - E—FHIBIBENRM BRI TEI3@) - 33(b)
F33(c) »

REHER  RAABBFBIDARAEBRERH
BENMERZBLEEMAES - AEENZS
MERTFEBMNEREFEABE 2T (2024F « B
27T) °

202563 A318 - AEEEEE#HLE T HRE
BNZEESLTERBERZODE  THEH
MEEBENMZVENDE BELRZEET TR
B HENRSESBUZ Gt kE S8
BEAABRHDEXNAEFRAEEFAETNRSE
Br-

MR2025F3A31H  IBEETYWE BERXBEE
BRBEREEE D MM (2024F - HORKE H ATl E
©RB6,623,00070) - EMRBEBIBABE
14,751,000(2024 4 : 7##33,000,0007L) - &5
ReEEBMUNA KRB SENIREFEREETE
FEALRESME - BB L& &N T a6 A FH
BEMNPEEE 2R RIER - RERBER PR
BRATEERANTI3%ER14.7%(20244 : 10.8% %
1.4%) o

ZYECHERBEEEBE1900,00002024%F &
#3,782,0007T) AR Z M EMEEEE - BRE
IR RE D A Uk Bl £ %8 A8 2,400,000
(20244 : #14,200,0007T) © WIHREARE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14. 9% BERRE @
Fair value hierarchy NAEBEEFR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TREETAEBUAARBERHERATERT I
Group's assets for which the recoverable amount is determined based on EEENEENANEBEEL

fair value less cost of disposal:

31 March 2025 202543 A31H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2025 using
R2025F3A3AEATIEEETHARETE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERME EBEAUEBERE EAFRATHE
HIRE LOPN ¢ BWAE

(5—B#f&K) (B=EBR) (=& st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Residential property: EEWE

- Building portion included in property, —BEEME BEX
plant and equipment REREES S - - 2,400 2,400

- Land portion included in right-of-use —BEEFRBEEEDN
assets THE S - - 13,900 13,900

- - 16,300 16,300
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

31 March 2024

Residential property:

- Building portion included in property,

plant and equipment
- Land portion included in right-of-use
assets

20243 /3R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

14. Y% - REKRE @)

NABEFR

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2024 using

MR2024F3ANBFEATIIABETHARBERNR

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERMS  ERABE SATAEHE
KRB B A SR B ABIR
(F—E4) (BZEHR) (F=ZER “REt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T BT T
EEWE :
—BEEME  BER
REEESD - - 4,200 4,200
- BEEFEREAED
THE S - - 15,800 15,800
- - 20,000 20,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

14.

182

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14.
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs
to the valuation of the residential property:

M - BERRE @
NABEFR@®

TXREEWMEMGERBOHERMN N EZH AR
BB -

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range
fEEF M BAFAEEN®WASE E
2025 2024
2025% 20244
Residential property Direct comparison approach  Price per sa.ft. (HK$) 15,185 to 20,911 17,857 to 24,257
[E=IES BERELBUE BEFRE (BE) 15,185 20,911 17,857 % 24,257

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated by the direct
comparison method on the assumption of the sale of the property
interest with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the residential
property, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year of
completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per
unit.

The key input was the market price per unit, which a significant increase/
decrease in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the residential property.

EmBET  AABERERKLENERRTE
BEEBANBRT  URBZEWS LRETHH
LESHER S BB EERLEORAR o

HENSRAZEETYENTE  SREwE |
BoEHR 2EBE RIFNEEZER UEH
BHEANTIHER -

TEHAERSERMNTSEE - THERNHAR
LR TREEREENENDABEAR LR
T



15.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Carrying amount at 1 April 4 B1H Z &

Transfer from property, plant and equipment E#EEWE¥ - BE LR E

Transfer from prepaid land lease EEegRM A E

Net losses from a fair value NABEAERMEERN
adjustment (note 6) F e (FisEe)

Carrying amount at 31 March IANHZEREE

The Group’s investment properties consist of industrial properties in
Hong Kong. The investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2025
based on valuations performed by CBRE Advisory Hong Kong Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuer, at HK$140,117,000. Each vyear,
the directors of the Group decide which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. Management have discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each annual reporting date.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment properties with a total carrying
amount of HK$140,117,000 (2024: HK$151,910,000) were pledged as
security for the banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are
disclosed in notes 33(a) and 33(b) to the financial statements.

15.

B mERME(E)

BEYE

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

151,910 69,300

- 15,414

- 74,586

(11,793) (7,390)

140,117 151,910

REBZREMEBREERBITERAME - K2025
FIANH AEEZREVERERBLIEE
AERGEMUENRREBCETZHEEEG BB
140,117,0007C > B + NRRIE R AT B AL EIMNE
HEMABEAEEYENINDSGEE - TiHNH - 2
B CBUMUARRERFBEEZERBZEA - R
EFEREHETHEN  EREESRGEEMN®
HERBEARGELER -

ZEREMENREHOBETE=E  E—FFHF
IR A M IRKRM 16 -

202563318 + AEEKREEAB%140,117,000
7T (20244 : &#151,910,0007T) 2 EWE D 1EIR
BB AEEE TRITHEEER - E—F1E1B
TR B TR R M 33(a) & 33(b) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. BEWE @)
Fair value hierarchy NAEBEEFR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TRHEPAEEREMENDIABFEEBR

Group’s investment properties:

31 March 2025 2025%3H31H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2025 using
R2025F3 83BN AREBETESE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERBTE BEAUTEHERE EARTHE
HRE PN ¢ BWAE

E-EBR EER E=ZEBR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BT T BET T
Recurring fair value measurement for: REMDAEBHESE :
Industrial properties TERYHE - - 140,117 140,117
31 March 2024 2024%3A31H8 Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2024 using
202453 AR A AEETEDHE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERME EABE EATAER
KRB B ABIE 5 ABUE
F—ER FBR E=ER R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT BT
Recurring fair value measurement for: REMDAAEBHETE :
Industrial properties TERWHE - - 151,910 151,910
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FA - AABEHEREREEBEARE_EBHRZME
between Level 1and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2024: B ONEAE - EREANED (2024F - &) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWE &)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NABESH (&)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of PEAANEEZEBRZANEFEZHAHWOT
the fair value hierarchy:
Industrial
properties
ITHERAWE
HK$’000
BET T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 A1AEEE 69,300
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HAYE - BE ARG 15,414
Transfer from prepaid land lease EREMTHEE 74,586
Net losses from a fair value adjustment NIAEFEZFEIE (7,390)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3A31B K2024F 4 A1BEREE 151,910
Net losses from a fair value adjustment NAEFEZFEIE (11,793)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 7202593 A3 HREE 140,117
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MR E(E)

15.

16.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs
to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation techniques

fh{EF i

Direct comparison approach

BERLEE

Industrial properties

THERYZE

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated by the direct
comparison method on the assumption of the sale of the property
interest with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the investment
properties, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the market price
per unit.

The key input was the market price per unit, which a significant increase/
decrease in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the investment properties.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, offices, retail
shops, warehouses, factory and motor vehicles used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will
be made under the terms of this land lease. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms between 1 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
are several lease contracts that include variable lease payments, which are
further discussed below.

15.

Significant unobservable inputs
BEATUEERAE

Price per sqa.ft. (HK$)
FEHRE (BE)

16.

BEYE &)
NABEER @)

TXREEMEGLEMANGERTREZ2H AR
EHHE

B

|

Range
EiE
2025 2024
20254 20244

4,141 to 13,547
4,141%£13,547

4,282 t0 10,272
4,282%10,272

EMSET  AREERERRHENERRLZE
BEBEHBENBRT  URBZEWS LrETHNH
LEREHER S BRERLEVEMETH -

HERSRAZEREMENSE  BEME |
B R BE RIFOHZREE UEH
BEANTIHER -

TE2RAERTGEMNTISER - HSERIKRE
ERR TR EBREMENRABEKNE LR
T -

HE
AEBEREEA

REEBREETREENLTH PRAE - TEE
HRE BMERAENHESH - BRAMEL—
RMERFARMEETWERE 1 - HEIRS0F - M
REZFLEENER S S EE [ EMR
B HEBFOHEEBENTIESF - — KW E -
REBRAMAEEHANIATEZRSEEES
E- a5 THEANEZUEMEENE  FBEHIIW
™



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mERME(E)

16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBEEREBA (8)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHELE

FAREEERBEENREEREZSHNT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Furniture,
Prepaid fixtures and
land lease Buildings equipment Total
L .
HE BF HERRE zE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT T BET T
As at 1 April 2023 FR2023F4 A1H 92,980 115,351 390 208,721
Additions NE - 40,680 - 40,680
Modification 1B - 48,191 - 48,191
Depreciation (note 7) e (HaE7) (2,579) (97,730) (223) (100,532)
Capitalisation of amortisation of prepaid F&f} + i FH S84 &
land lease to construction in progress A BEETIE (601 - - (601
Impairment (note 7) B (FEE7) (1,490) (57,000) - (58,490)
Surplus on revaluation EHAK 74,475 - - 74,475
Transfer to investment properties EEEYE (74,586) - - (74,586)
Exchange realignment P& 5 (952) (1,876) - (2,828)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3A31H &
2024% 4 A1H 87,247 47,616 167 135,030
Additions NE - 3,755 - 3,755
Modification & - 49,855 - 49,855
Depreciation (note 7) e (ME7) (2,522) (51,180) (96) (53,798)
Capitalisation of amortisation of prepaid T&{+ L ithfH E#i4E
land lease to construction in progress A BERITE (595) - - (595)
Impairment (note 7) A (MI3E7) (800) (41,749) - (42,549)
Exchange realignment P& 5% (298) 1,091 - 793
As at 31 March 2025 202593 A31H 83,032 9,388 71 92,491
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LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s management identified certain retail
shops which were loss-making and a property with impairment
indicator and performed impairment assessment of right-of-
use assets for the identified retail shops and the property with
impairment indicators and estimated the corresponding recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units based on the higher of fair
value less cost of disposal and value in use calculation.

An impairment loss of HK$41,749,000 (2024: HK$57,000,000) was
recognised during the year to write down the carrying amounts of
certain right-of-use assets to their estimated recoverable amounts
of Nil (2024: HK$14,758,000) as at 31 March 2025. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units for retail shops are determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering the remaining lease terms
plus the anticipated renewal periods of the respective right-of-
use assets. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash flow
projections ranged from 9.3% to 14.7% (2024: 10.8% to 11.4%).

An impairment loss of HK$800,000 (2024: HK$1,490,000) was
recognised during the year to write down the carrying amount
of the property. The recoverable amount of the land portion of
the property of HK$13,900,000 (2024: HK$15,800,000) with
impairment indicator is determined based on fair value less cost
of disposal. Details of the fair value hierarchy of the property are
disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.

As at the end of the reporting period, some of the Group’s land and
buildings in Hong Kong and the Mainland were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are disclosed
in notes 33(a), 33(b) and 33(c) to the financial statements.

16.

HE @
REBERAMEA (8)

(a)

& HELE (%)

MR2025F3A318 + AEEERE#MATSET
HEEBEENTEESMFEREDRRNYE -
HEENENTEEELERETRNMEE
TEAREERENG  AEMNRSEEEM
ZAEET AT Y E & B R AR R A Ao (R B AR A
FHEEAEFNRREET °

M2025F3 /8318 BETEAELEENE
TBE2 MO (20244 - WORE H G5
AT Y Bl & BB #514,758,0007T) © D HERIM
AE1B ABE 41,749,0007T (20244 : B
57,000,0007L) - ZERFENBRSELBMNN
AR ESEIREFEHABESEETERN - ZE
FREEE A EREE T4 S HRR I E e E
AEEENTERETHRMNMETEENRSR
STERRIET - B RETEAMEBO AT
T A9 3%E14.7% (20244 : 10.8%ZEN.4%) °

M2025F3A31H - MECHERREREESE
800,0007T (20244 : 7#1,490,0007T) LA
BZMENREEE - BEREDROYEL
P17 Hy A] U 6] & B8 A8 613,900,000 7T (2024
F : #¥15,800,0007T) + W HIRIE R AR
HERAET - ZWEANEESLENFEME
BHE IS IRERMI 14 P 4555 -

RIEHR  NEBUREERAZ TR
BFoERTIRIT - (FARRRITEE ZEM
BTAKE  E-SHBEBERMHREME
33(a) ~ 33(0) &33(c) ©



16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at beginning of year

New leases

Modification

Accretion of interest recognised
during the year (note 8)

Payments

Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at end of year

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

NEY 2z fREE

HMiEE

(R

FEDHERNSILE
(H&E8)

EN

B 54 A

MER 2 REE

DR
B D
FEREED

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38 to

the financial statements.

16. HE ®)
REBWEAEAFA (1)

HEERE

MBBEME(E)

FREEAENERIERESNT

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
116,927 153,659
3,755 40,680
40,318 40,758
6,438 7,889
(93,471) (123,696)
450 (2,363)
74,417 116,927
49,069 73,515
25,348 43,412
HEBBENIHADTRNEA U BREME

3BHEE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

16.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

follows:

Interest on lease liabilities (note 8)

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets (note 7)

Gain on lease modification

Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 7)

Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in selling and distribution
expenses) (note 7)

Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities
(included in selling and distribution
expenses)* (note 7)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

HERENS (HEs)
EREEETE (HE7)

e A

EREEERE (HE7)

IR E BRI
(FEAERDHER)
(B=E7)

Rt AHE BB 2N
AEEETR GEAHE
ROHER) - (FEE7)

RIB &R R TR

The Group leased a number of retail shops which contain variable

payment terms that are based on the Group’s turnover generated
from the retail shops. There are also minimum monthly base

rental arrangements for these leases.

190

HE @
NEBWEAEAFA (1)
(c) REFFPRIAGASHEEIENT -

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT
6,438 7,889
53,798 100,532
(9,537) (7,434)
42,549 58,490
18,124 7,866
857 2,473
112,229 169,816

- AEBBESETEEHOEL - 25
ERENARBEERTEEMEENEX
HMAERMA2HEETIAGRK - ZEHE
NRAERESAERBS L -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d) The balance of lease liabilities is analysed as follows:

Repayable within one year AR — EWﬂJHHEE
Repavyable in the second year AP NI H(E
Repayable in the third to fifth years, inclusive %

(e) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note 32(c) to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) in Hong Kong
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$4,296,000
(2024: HK$3,443,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year but within two years —F A FERFUR
After two years but within three years MEL FB=FUR

= ¢i£¢W§'JﬁH &

B mERME(E)

16. HE ®)

AREBELREEAEA B
(d) HEEERBESFWT

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
49,069 73,515
24,184 36,668
1,164 6,744
74,417 116,927

(e) BMEELAMNBRERMUEENGESUBRMEN
FE32(0)HFE -

AEBESLEEA

AEERBCEHERHHAEMNREENEREYD
¥ (MisE15) - ZEHENKRATERKBARLIH
ERIZe  UREEFMNRTTAETTHESH
B FRAEBE RN S WA BB 4,296,000
JC (2024 % : ##3,443,0007T) » FIEEHAGZAE
HEARMITEG ©

R2025F3A31H « AEBERBEEBRIEHETT
BsCEREMENCREIRAERENT ¢

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BETT
2,558 2,7
769 886

55 55

3,382 3n2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17.

The balance represents the Group’s trademarks which are assessed as
having indefinite useful lives because the Group is able to renew the legal
right of the trademarks at insignificant cost indefinitely.

18. OTHER ASSET 18.

Other asset represents the cost of membership for a seat at The Chinese
Gold and Silver Exchange Society which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

19. INVENTORIES 19.
Raw materials RH R
Work in progress TR M
Finished goods BURL &

192

BLEE

RARRIEAREZ R o ARARE R ANESR X
NERRATERAEEEERE - SRTAEE
REMFH -

HtwEE

HpBEERSRERZHEENA » THRRARE £
MERKFIR o

rE&
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BETT
97,797 74,151
10,337 11,757
935,889 1,167,338
1,044,023 1,253,246




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

JE Y AR R
IE

Trade receivables
Impairment

The Group’s retail sales are normally made on a cash basis. Credit card
receivables from financial institutions in respect of retail sales are aged
within one month. Apart from retail customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 to 90 days for other customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing in general.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within T month HAAR
1to 2 months 122 AW
2 to 3 months 2E3EAN
Over 3 months HBiE3EA

20.

B mERME(E)

FE U BR X
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
48,930 89,278
(10,742) (11,831
38,188 77,447
AEENTEHEE—RMUBERS - ITE ﬁﬁ’%ﬁﬁ
= XEHAW&T%ZFEW*FHHEMZHEWE
cHRIEERFIN ZISEIWFH\W%}E?EL\%@
30i90izﬁ%§ﬁﬂ REBNKEZZESARKE
ZREBEFUREEERR - iR EHbma R

BRETHELER - R %M$%IE’\]JT§H&EE
HEKARBAMZEF  HYEEANEEETEA

o ANER BN M st K MR S SR A R E R R
FHETHA MR EREE - BURR—RE/RE -

RBERR - RUEFREBEZERHAERNRE

BREEZRR OO
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
37,869 73,807
- 1,249
319 -
- 2,391
38,188 77,447

193



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

20.

194

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 20. FEWERRR ()

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

At beginning of year REH)

(Reversal of impairment losses)/ CRERE),FE - FE
impairment losses, net

Exchange realignment PE 5

At end of year RER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type
and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables
are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

YRR 2R ERRESH T

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET R BT T
11,831 11,883
(971) 301
(118) (353)
10,742 11,831

AEERNEIwE B RABEREETRED T -
T EEMEERHE - BEXDENAEFRLUEE
BR(PlagitE - EPRARFR) 25 BT D
AR 2 AR BETE - MR E R A B N
BR BB ZEREEARRRE AN ESEH
BEEHZAERAIIHEN - BN AR KK
BEMRIER - —BME - AHNBE - FREAR
PR SR BT TR B FE U AR TR T LA MSH o



20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2025

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

As at 31 March 2024

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

BHREEBRE
FRmaE (BT
RHEEBEB%TT)

AR
EEAECEETT)
BAEREE (BT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B mERME(E)

20. FEWERR (&)

TREIAEEE BB ERESENRKERROE

ERBRER

2025%3H31H

Past due
bl
Less than 1to 2to Over
Current Tmonth 2 months 3 months 3 months Total
e LEAR 1Z28R 2Z3ER BB3EA e
1.14% 1.84% - - 99.9% 22.0%
37,106 1,521 - - 10,303 48,930
423 28 - - 10,291 10,742
20243 831H
Past due
pnki]
Less than Tto 2to Over
Current Tmonth  2months 3 months 3 months Total
& SRUMER  1Z2EA  2Z3EA  BBE3EA Pk
1.4% 1.8% - - 81.4% 13.3%
68,539 7,548 - - 13,191 89,278
952 135 - - 10,744 11,831

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, net of provisions,
are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
us$
Others

s
NS
%5
Rt

REBEEWERFMEARABZEEENL TR

RREAL

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BE T BETT
786 1,046
37,375 71,445

2 4,933

25 23
38,188 77,447
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21.

196

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

Prepayments SELNE-N
Deposits e
Right-of-return assets REEEE
Other receivables HAb FEUK
Impairment B

Less: Non-current portion W IEmBIE D

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by applying a
loss rate approach. Except for an other receivable of HK$6,847,000 (2024:
HK$6,847,000) for which the Group has recognised a loss allowance of
HK$6,847,000 (2024: HK$6,847,000) as at 31 March 2025, no other loss
allowance was provided because management estimated that the ECLs as
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 were minimal.

The movement in loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as
follows:

At beginning of year REL]
Impairment losses REEE
At end of year RER

21.

AR HttEWRREMEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BB T T
8,194 12,526
41,523 70,102
1,708 1973
8,254 12,716
59,679 97,317
(6,847) (6,847)
52,832 90,470
(10,357) (28,145)
42,475 62,325
AEERESREOHEABBERLETRED
oo BRANEBEE — S Hth fEUKIEHE 6,847,000
JC (2024 % : 786,847,000 7T) R REAEE
6,847,0007T (20244 : ##6,847,0007T) 40 » B
BEst2025F K 2024F3 A3 AMIBEEEEIEG
N BT B S IE E o
Hib KRR 2 REBBESH T
2025 2024
Note 20254 20244
=S HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
6,847 5,780
- 1,067
6,847 6,847




22, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PLEDGED TIME 22.

B mERME(E)

ReRRcEEUREEREHRERK

DEPOSITS

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHER 129,378 179,967
Pledged time deposits BT TR 58,309 294,143
187,687 474110

Less: Pledged time deposits for certain W EAETRHBRITREEER
short-term banking facilities (note 33(d)) 2 SEEATF AR (BEE33 () (58,309) (294,143)
Cash and cash equivalents BeREL2EED 129,378 179,967

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents and time
deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$122,216,000
(2024: HK$394,249,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Regulations
and Administration of Settlement Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s time deposits denominated in RMB
amounting to HK$58,309,000 (2024: HK$294,143,000) have been pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 33(d)).

RBEHR  AEBUARBABNZES LR
S EEBY R TEHRGFERY AE122,216,0007T (2024
F o B¥8394,249,0007T) - ARBTEEBRALBA
HpEH - K BIEAZINEBTEEH - A%
B EREREETINEEE ZRITBARER
BRAHMEE -

FHNIRTT 2R e R E ARITHERZ T B F RERER
ME - BFARENNFRSFR - BHEHMFR
ZERBBIREVE - WIRARE BN X R
B RITREBREEREROERAMEERF BT
I IR WAL R 2 RTT

B 1E2025F3A31H » AEBEUARBABMBAER
FB#58,309,0007T (20244 « ##294,143,0007T)
ZEMGEHCEREUBRSAE®R S TRTEE (H
FE33(d)) °

197



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. ERER®
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RIMEER  BNEARBEZZAHAEZRED
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: W :
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Within 1T month MEA A 134,455 140,167
1to 2 months 1Z22BARA 4,659 21,427
2 to 3 months 2Z=3AAN 2,267 17,745
Over 3 months HRiE3E A 166,485 158,642
307,866 337,981
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on EREFEIAREUARE—MAI0ZER0BERE -
30 to 120-day terms.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in AEBRMNERZEAENTIEE BEA -
the following currencies:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
HK$ B 88,414 99,373
RMB AREE 103,239 91,728
Us$ ETT 115,414 146,480
Others H 799 400
307,866 337,981
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B mERME(E)

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, HthENRRESER
2025 2024
2025% 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Other payables H e R 31,029 27,592
Customer deposits BPil® 56,391 71,571
Provision for liabilities BERE 6,494 3,425
Contract liabilities (note) AREE (M) 8,548 12,970
Refund liabilities RRAE 2,476 2,71
Accruals FEETEH 85,093 115,201
190,031 233,470
Less: Non-current portion A IERBE S (1,261) (1,938)
188,770 231,532
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing. HEipEN RN E BRI AR S o
Note: MisE -
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: AEXHBEFBNT -
31 March 31 March 1 April
2025 2024 2023
20255 20244 20234
3A31H 3A31H 4 A1
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT
Short-term advances received from customers KEEF AN E
Sale of goods HEEm 6,487 12,626 15,909
Customer loyalty programme BREEHEE 2,061 344 579
8,548 12,970 16,488
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MR E(E)

24,

25,

200

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver
jewellery products and performance obligations that are unsatisfied
in relation to customer loyalty programme. The decrease in contract
liabilities in 2025 and 2024 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term
advances received from customers in relation to the sales of jewellery
products at the end of the year.

GOLD LOAN

B

Gold loan HELEN

Gold loan was borrowed to reduce the impact of fluctuation of gold prices
on gold inventories. However, the criteria for hedge accounting were not
fully met. Gold loan was designated as a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss as it is managed and its performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management
and investment strategy, and information about the gold loan is provided
on that basis to the Group’s top management. The gold loan is unsecured,
interest-free with an original maturity within 1 year.

24,

25.

Hi AR R EE R @)

EHABEERINIRE RARERNET P LS
H AR JE 49 B AE AT AR 2 58 HATRRRIR - 2025F 2
2024 FANBERL T EHRNEFRRATPAEN
SE ANV

ETER
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE T BETT
10,963 16,185

EARSERNENRAEESEREDHESR
B8 - R FRESEFRETE2MA HH
BREZGN ERFEEERIRERERRE
BERERBRAANBEEETERIERR - &
ERERBANEBEITREBEZVBAGE  MEH
REESERZERTDER-EEEHRTAREEY
SEEEAR ESEREERNES YR —F
MEIH -



26.

Current

Bank loans and trade financing -
secured

Bank loans - unsecured

Non-current
Bank loans - secured

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

ik

ROERREFRE
- HHEM

RITER — BEA

E i)
ROER - BER

Repayment within one year or on demand

Repayment in the second year

Repayment in the third to fifth years, inclusive

Note:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B mERME(E)

26. iTESRITEXR

2025 2024
2025F 2024%
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRFE%) B8R BETT | BEHE®%) Z158H BETT
3.70%-8.10% 2025 637,286 | 3.70% - 8.16% 2024 506,000
2.75%-3.60% 2025 40,217 | 3.00% - 8.36% 2024 62,527
677,503 568,527
3.70%-3.90%  2026-2028 43168 | 5.40%-816% 2025 -2028 491,682
720,671 1,060,209
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
AMFEREIBEERIZBEREE 677,503 568,527
AR2FNEIHREE 19,622 448,040
ARIFESF AR EREE 23,546 43,642
720,671 1,060,209
BisE

All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB.

PRAIRITE R LAEE R A RBIEENL -
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26.

202

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The interest-bearing bank borrowings, including the bank loans and trade
finance repayable on demand, are carried at amortised cost. None of the
portions of the bank loans due for repayment after one year contains a
repayment on demand clause, and as a result, the bank loans would be
classified as current liabilities. This evaluation was made considering the
financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements, the Group’s continuing compliance with the loan covenants,
the lack of events of default and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had available borrowing facilities
amounting to HK$1,006,019,000 (2024: HK$1,199,615,000), of which
HK$720,671,000 (2024: HK$1,060,209,000) had been utilised as
borrowings above as at the end of the reporting period. Certain borrowing
facilities are secured by certain assets of the Group as disclosed in note
33 to the financial statements.

26.

FFEMITER ()

AERITER (BEREBREEZRTEFLE S
&) TR HA AT AR - A R B HAE R
HABEaRBEREEGT  BUOBEARBAE - 1F
SRR D ZE AT  REERART B HRERK
ERZPBAOR - REBEBEETERIER  RE
EBHNEMRAEEBEERERZER -

MR2025F3A31H - AEBEABHAZMEBRABE
1,006,019,0007T (20244 : 7##1,199,615,0007T) °
H i 1720,671,000 L 2 B E B (2024 F « B
1,060,209,0007T) RIREHREBH - A TREE
HAALEEE TEEFERFLEENIEREM T
330
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Long service payments

The Group is obligated to make long service payments to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong with a minimum of 5-year employment
period upon retirement or termination of employment under certain
circumstances, in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(the “Employment Ordinance”). Long service payment is calculated based
on the last monthly salary of the employees and the number of years of
service. There are provisions under the Employment Ordinance permitting
employers to offset employees’ long service payments against the
accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s contributions to the MPF
Scheme. In 2022, the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Amendment Bill”)
was enacted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, such that the Company can no longer use accrued benefits arising
from MPF mandatory employer contributions to offset employees’ long
service payment accrued as from the transition date (i.e., 1 May 2025). The
enactment of the Amendment Bill is treated as a plan amendment. Except
for the statutory right to offset as described above, the long service
payment benefits are unfunded.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, and the risk of changes in salary
increase rate and the expected return on MPF scheme balances.

The actuarial valuation specifically designated for the Group’s employees
was completed by a qualified actuary as at 31 March 2025 using the
projected unit credit method.

27.

B mERME(E)

BEENEK
RS2

REEEERBIED)  WEALEBERBEELSEH
ETRARAAEEESETERTELER  EAN
BEFBEBOFAMZSEIINRERES - BN
SHERETINSRKRHESNMBESRTE - WMk
PERNEBERTSIMEBEES T HAEBEL
REEB D - FA2022%F - HERFRITTEUE KA E M
(2022 F B MR IRET A Z (KR HE) (1BET) 1§
By (TEETIEH]) - EBEBH (202565 A18)
% RETAFEABHMERESEITELENRE
R EE P RBREE o BT IEDIEE MR At
EHEET o B BaATEIEBEES - RERG ST
HES IR -

ZAtBIERAERER - RFEESECRRES T
rEre TR R 2 B o

M20255%3A31H - RAKEREMEVITEMLED
hAaBREEMR AR B ERETK -
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27.

204

BERANE® @)
RS E @)
ESAPBRRRREROSEOT

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27.
Long service payments (continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Present value of defined benefit obligations R ERFEEHIRE 1,326 3,407
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting NSRRI ENEU TSRS
period are as follows:
2025 2024
20254 20244
Discount rate ARIE % 3.25% 4.30%
Expected rate of salary increment (%) TERAER & FHIE (%)
Year 2024 20244 - 3.30%
Year 2025 20254 3.30% 3.30%
Year 2026 and thereafter 2026 F K LATR 3.30% 3.30%
Expected annual return of the MPF scheme  FEHAGTE S HEIEE
assets BEWREE 5.00% 5.00%




27.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Long service payments (continued)

27. EEEANZEK @&
RHIRES (8

B mERME(E)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions at the end of RIBEHRAERNBROTEHELSTOT -
the reporting period is shown below:
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
defined defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
REEF REEF
g H|E2EMORD) WAE &JE2EMOED)
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BT T BT T
2025 2025
Discount rate ARIR = 0.25% 1)) 0.25% 18
Future salary increase RERFE LM 0.25% 3 0.25% )
Future expected rate of return RGBS 52|44
on MPF balances rFEHR MR ZE = 0.25% m 0.25% -
2024 2024 %
Discount rate BHIR & 0.25% 142) 0.25% 150
Future salary increase RERFE LM 0.25% - 0.25% M
Future expected rate of return RIRBFE S T2 %
on MPF balances FTEHR M E 0.25% O 0.25% -

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method
that extrapolates the impact on employee benefit obligations as a
result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end
of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another.

ERBRSMIDBBEENBERAREIERRELS
BEHHREERNEBOZEEHELG - GUREDT

TREERBEEEMRRE N

8 MEADBRRA

BRTE - ANETRRNEFH LA ATETIFAE
B BMERESTRBERRAERNZHRER

BR2EH -
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27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27.

Long service payments (continued)

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

Current service cost
Interest cost

Net benefit expenses

Recognised in administrative expenses

R ERTERA
IS

FRANFEX
ERATTHEEM

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are

as follows:

At beginning of year
Remeasurements:

- Actuarial changes arising from experience

adjustments

- Actuarial changes arising from demographic

assumptions

- Actuarial changes arising from financial

assumptions
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid

At end of year

206

AT
E=ArE
— SRR mELNIEHE

— A D FeEH R R BT A A
RHED

— B R R £

REFZRBRA
MEER
EAEA

RER

BERANE® @)
RS E @)

BRSNS BERTERNEBRHNT ¢
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
461 508
142 137
603 645
603 645

AERHNEKRBRBELBHNOT -

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
3,407 3.894
(720) (57)
(1,459) 4
82 (443)
461 508
142 137
(587) (636)
1,326 3,407




27.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Long service payments (continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of

plan assets are as follows:

2025

Defined benefit obligations

7

o
K

g

D

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mERME(E)

27. EEBRAEH 90
RERIS ()
AERANEBBLFEEENAAEEZESHUOT ¢
20255
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement losses/(gains) in other comprehensive income
SABRRZAA HARARENERERL/(KA)
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from  arising from arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes  changes in in other At
AtT April Service interest in profit Benefits demographic ~infinancial  experience comprehensive 31 March
2024 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2025
fADSHE fHERRE  0RER
20245 A REBMEL  BAELN 0 MEEN  HARE  R2sE
4R1R BREA  FREER  BERMG BRER  MEERE L E BEEH 2EURNG 3A31R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
IR BETn IR BETn BEIR BETn IR BBTR IR BBTR
3,407 461 142 603 (587) (1,459) 82 (720) (2,097) 1,326
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B sk R M 5E(&)
27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27. REGARH @
Long service payments (continued) RHRE2 (@)
2024 20244
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement osses/(gains) in other comprehensive income
HABERLNE HAGARENGERERK/(BA)
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from arising from~~ arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes  changes in in other At
At T April Service interest in profit Benefits  demographic ~infinancial  experience  comprehensive 3 March
2023 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2024
RADGHER fUBRRE  EREE
R2023F A FEBMEE  BWMELN EER SAEE R0ME
4A1R REmAs  FREER BERNH EfRE  MEEED BEEY REEY REUE/ 3A3A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI BETT BRI BETTL BRI BETT BRI BETT
Defined benefit obligations ~ REBHFEH 3894 508 137 645 (636) 4 (443) (57) (49) 3407
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years are as
follows:

Within the next 12 months RARRIMEA
Between 2 and 5 years R2ESF 2/
Between 5 and 10 years REET10F Z [

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for all qualifying employees in the PRC, Japan and Malaysia.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$4,962,000 (2024:
HK$7,022,000) (note 7), representing contributions payable by the Group
to the schemes at the appropriate rates set by the local governments of
its subsidiaries.

B mERME(E)

27. EEEANZEK @&

RHRBE (@8
TR AR SUERAE TS 2 T

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
176 192

746 160

549 1,399
1,471 1,751

FEHBUR NG E

AEBZBEBCRFIE B INRD) WRE -
AREFTE(ERREVDEMANER L2 TeHEE
REBFEAABNES - 2EBESE - 918
DEFER—EREHEFRAE - ABINTTEA
B2 - RIFREELFE - EEREEBHARRE
EHEBABNS% R EELHER - AT AEHK
AB#30,000TT A LR © SEHEINHRTEFRRE -

FEBNAAERE  BARSRATSEENIE
B2 R —EREHRFENKE - FABNEER IR
AEBENBEEYEFRBRBYILEARERLER -

REZE2025F3A3NBILFE  AEBE R EETE
Fr{E 2 3k A58 B8 15 4,962,0007T (20244 : 7B
7,022,0007T) (ff5E7) - WEEBmFP G © HHEHK
Th £ ER 51 B /A B4R B8 b [ BT 8 AR MO bt R AE
ﬁ °
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28.

210

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as

follows:

Deferred tax assets

At 1 April 2023

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 11)

Deferred tax charged to the
statement of comprehensive
income during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 11)
Deferred tax charged to the
statement of comprehensive
income during the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2025

R2023454R1R
FRRBERGTA
(0% BEEH B
(FzEM)
FRRZERERE
Mk 2 EEFIBE
[ 2%
R2024F3A31A
bl 202454 818
FRRBREA
(k) MIEEHIE
(FzEm)
FRRZEREHRE
Mk 2 EEFIBE

EXER
R2025%3 A 318

28. EZLEHIA
FRNRELEHEEERAGEEHOT
EERIBE E
Employee Impairment Other
Lease benefit of Tax temporary
liabilities obligations inventories losses differences Total
EEEH Hith R
HEEE &% FEER BEBSR R wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BB BT BETT
20,228 643 12,622 6,558 16,167 56,218
(9,593) 1 3,285 985 (3,236) (8,558)
- (82) - - - (82)
(703) - 691 (520) (416) (948)
9,932 562 16,598 7,023 12,515 46,630
(6,388) 3 (15,409) (3,013) (7,143) (31,950)
- (346) - - - (346)
131 - (156) 340 (53) 262
3,675 219 1,033 4,350 5,319 14,596




28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 April 2023

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the
statement of profit or loss during the
year (note 1)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Deferred tax credited to the
statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 11)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2025

202354 A1H
FARBERRMG
GFA)Z
IR (MEEE)
BE 5 =88

A2024%3A31H
N }%20245 4818

FRAREREERNR
(5T A) ZIRERTE
(BaEm)

ME 5 =%

202543 A31H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mERME(E)

28. IEIEFIIAE ()

EERIEAE

Depreciation  Withholding

allowance taxes on

in excess undistributed

Right-of-use of related profits of
assets depreciation  subsidiaries Total

ERE FiE A &l

BEBE ROKEFZ
FRAEEE WENEE B ez
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BT BT T BT T
19,194 3,987 22,784 45,965
(7,018) (3,415) 12,232 1,799
(635) ©) (751) (1,387)
1,541 571 34,265 46,377
(8,090) (280) (12,461) (20,831)
153 - (237) (84)
3,604 291 21,567 25,462

Al



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28. IEIEFIIE (&)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
purposes:

MEREOMS -
BARRKRAEE - AT RAPBERE BRI F A
SEIREBIRB BRI

ETREMBAEERABECDREY

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the LR A AR RER R
consolidated statement of financial position — ¥EIEFSIE & & F58

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 478 MR N R &R FERHY
consolidated statement of financial position — IEIEFSIE & (& F58

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
(10,702) (34,518)
21,568 34,265
10,866 (253)

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. The applicable tax rate is 5%. A& A5% o

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following

AEEBEEHNPBKYL ZHEARR2008F14
TBREESZ BRI RESMNIEMEH @

THIER ZRIEIRE EiR L E AR R R T AR

items at applicable tax rates: 2
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Tax losses BIEEE 217,763 187,732
Others Efh 53,261 31,592
Deferred tax assets not recognised AERZELERBEEE 271,024 219,324
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29.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

The above unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong as at 31 March
2025 of approximately HK$923,393,000 (2024: HK$887,142,000) are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group had unrecognised tax
losses arising in the Mainland, Macau and Japan as at 31 March 2025 of
approximately HK$214,117,000, HK$81,613,000 and HK$13,868,000 (2024:
HK$133,719,000, HK$47,061,000 and HK$13,796,000), respectively that
will expire in five, three and ten years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above items can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: SETE ¢

1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each 1,500,000,000 & & M E (B ¥ 0.25 7T
2 LBk

Issued and fully paid: BEITRER :

249,182,030 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each 249,182,030 B EEEE0.257T
ZEBR

28.

29.

B mERME(E)

EERE (@)

20253 A318 » LA L ASEE923,393,0007T
(20244 : ##887,142,0007C) REBEL 2 RHER
FREEE  fJERAREREZSELAREBER
RIZ R RERFEF - B2025F3A318 » EERA
o BPIR BAEEZ RERRIBEIERLN EEE
214117,0007T » ##81,613,0007T M8 13,868,000
JC (20244 : 133,719,000 7T * 78%47,061,000
TR E#13,796,0000) R AF - ZF R+ F %
R EEEHEBB AR ARERTA
F o HRRBEEWHET BIE B RRB AR AIER it
BEERE NEERAV AR SEE BREL
RBEE -

RABIAEBRRIKE 2 BI85 PRS-

&N
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BET T
375,000 375,000
62,296 62,296
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30.

214

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of
the Company on 21 July 2016 (“2016 share option scheme”). The purpose
of the 2016 share option scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contributions to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

Under the 2016 share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, at any time following the date of
the adoption of the 2016 share option scheme but before the tenth
anniversary of that day, to offer options to any person belonging to any
of the following classes of participants to subscribe for shares of the
Company:

- any employee (whether full time or part time employee(s), including
any director or executive director but not any non-executive
director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

- any non-executive director (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

- any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

- any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

- any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

- any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

30.

BRETE

NATE 2 ERETZIN2016FE7 A21HEART K
BRI ([2016 FHEMERTE]) - 2016 FREAXHERT &
MEMEART HERETEBETHREEHAE
ENEEE SAEEAEESURERRBESE
B URAXASEFRERENTE ([HREER])
WMREEANA ©

RIF2016 FHAEE - AAREFHREANRE
RERM2016 FREREE 2 AREZBEHRZE TR
FRIZ EARRE - mERTIER2EERROA
TEHNAHBEAR BN A ERE

—  ARAE - HEAMBARSERREEERED
FRAREE (THEZBIRMEES - BFEFF
HITERETREEMIERTES);

—  ARA - AEAMBARSKEIAREEBRD
EFFFMITES (BRBEIIFNTES);

- AREEEMKE R BHEARREEBAERN
B ARG R

- AKEREMEREEBNEAES

-  ARREREAREIEEBRERTRT  FER
B SRR EA R HEMALTHERE

- ARESEAERE BT AR
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30.

31.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

- any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

- any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of the
shares, the closing price of the shares on the stock exchange on the date
of offer of the grant and the average closing price of the shares on the
stock exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant. An offer of an option shall be deemed to have
been accepted within 28 days from the date of offer upon acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance of
HK$1. The maximum number of securities available for issue under the
2016 share option scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of
the Company. The maximum entitlement of each grantee in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
The option period will not be more than ten years from the date of grant
of the option and the Company’s board of directors may at its discretion
determine the minimum period for which the option has to be held or
other restriction before the exercise of the subscription right attaching
thereon.

The 2016 share option scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026, and at the date of this report, no
share option has been granted under the 2016 share option scheme since
it has been adopted (2024: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 92 to 93 of the financial statements.

30.

31.

B mERME(E)

B RESTE ()

— AEEEAKERARRERERREERZEMA
EBRREBRRBE 2EMNER (BESEM
) HFEREME &

- BEAELE EBBBELAHMEBKR %
MG P M AR E AN E B R MR RIED
B2 B AR SR 28 o

BRENTEESRMNEME  RONEBEREZ
WERTEREBRIMESHRTERRONEEE
Pt AR T B IR T8 2 2 H R R P ERiS a0 F
R HE=ETHNRSSE - EX THRREL28
AR EMAEBITEROAS AL RENRBR
AT EUE - RIRFRBREC WEM - RIE
2016 F fE AR HE ST BRI IR 2 FE IR PP I 2 Bt 48
B RETEBEBARBEBEITRAZI0% - FH&
EANBRRGAEERN T @A RBERRARF
ERITEBERMN% - BRENERNFEHHR D ER
BEREATSBATE - ARFESGARBER
TE 2 B3 FE 1T 6 AR HE P B 50 8 4 T A ZE R A B I
R RS BIR SR I -

2016 BB EAZ AW AI0FE - WS 20264F
7A2QBER - HEAFREH - AR AIEZ2016 FER
TERTEI T W E R BT BEAHE - (2024%F « )

e

AEBEZHEEE FARMNEFEZEBINEHNY
BRRFENLVEZEAEAEHRN -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

216

FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$3,755,000 and
HK$3,755,000 (2024: HK$40,680,000 and HK$40,680,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for buildings.

(i) During the year, the Group had non-cash lease
modification to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of HK$49,855,000(2024: HK$48,191,000) and
HK$40,318,000(2024: HK$40,758,000) respectively, in

respect of lease arrangements for leased assets.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2025

At T April 2024

Changes from financing cash flows

Fair value loss on gold loan

New leases

Modification

Exchange realignment

Interest expenses

Interest paid classified as
operating cash flows

At 31 March 2025

M2024F 418

B¢ EFNANEBEEIE
e

1Bk

HNE B Ep

FEFX
DEARERSREN

EATFE
MR2025%3 A31H

32. HERESHREXRKTE
@) FEHRERH
(i) FA AEEREFHEETHNERE
BEAMEEBENIIERSR S RIEM
71 3755,000 7T M B % 3,755,0007T
(20244 : % 40,680,000t KB
40,680,0007T) °
(D FA AEEREELERERHEZE
AEEERHEABIRSHEEBND
B A7 # 49, 855,0007T (20244 : 76
#48,191,00070) K& #40,318,0007T
(20244 : ##40,758,0007T) °
(b) MEEHELEEES
20254
Interest-bearing Lease
Gold loan bank borrowings liabilities
ESER TERITER HEae®
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BET T BET T
16,185 1,060,209 116,927
(6,959) (339,538) (87,033)
1,737 - -
- - 3,755
- - 40,318
- - 450
- - 6,438
- - (6,438)
10,963 720,671 74,417




(continued)

2024

At T April 2023

Changes from financing cash flows

Fair value loss on gold loan

New leases

Modification

Exchange realignment

Interest expenses

Interest paid classified as
operating cash flows

At 31 March 2024

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32.
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

R2023F 4 A1H8
BEREREE
HeERNAREBEESE
HHEE

&2k

SN B

B
PERAKEHRSMEN

BEAFLE
R2024F3 8318

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

HERSRERME @)

(b)) MEGBELEBEZE ®)
20244
Interest-bearing Lease
Gold loan bank borrowings liabilities
=EEEX FFRRITER HEBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEBFIT BT BT
- 1,173,577 153,659
12,693 (113,368) (115,807)
3,492

- - 40,680
- - 40,758
- - (2,363)
- - 7,889
- - (7,889)
16,185 1,060,209 116,927
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash flow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities LETEEHA
Within financing activities MEEFHA

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

218

(a)

On 6 May 2022, the Group entered into a facility agreement with
Hang Seng Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited,
United Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited,
Bank Sinopac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank
(Asia) Corporation Limited acting as mandated lead arrangers and
original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising
a term loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount of
HK$820,000,000 (“New Facilities”) has been granted. The Group’s
land and buildings and investment properties in Hong Kong with
carrying values of HK$29,890,000 (31 March 2024: HK$31,218,000)
and HK$140,117,000 (31 March 2024: HK$151,910,000), respectively,
were mortgaged by way of a first legal charge, as securities for,
inter alia, all obligations and liabilities, actual or contingent, from
time to time owing by the Group to those banks.

32. HBEREREBRMET @

(c) HEBRSRLARE
HAGAHRSTERNAER R Y BER
T
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
EUET T BT T
25,419 18,228
87,033 115,807
112,452 134,035
33. EEER
(@) M2022%5H6H @ AEBEHEEARITAERA

Al R{EIRT (BER) BRAR - KERTTH
RAG - BHRIT(BEB)BRAF - KL
¥RITEMDBRAREBDIT P EERIE
(M) BROERAGHEARITEELTHT
FEREEA N —HEEERS  BUHER
F %8 AB1820,000,000 THETEE (£
BEHERLBERER) ((FEEME]) - &
EEBUEEAERRAANIEERAES B A
75129,890,0007T (A2024E3 A318 : B
31,218,0007T ) K& #140,117,000 7T (722024
F£3[318 : B#151,910,0007T) EE LN L
HRIEFMIZEYEEER - UMER (ERB
B)AEBTRERZERITZMEER RN
BRERER TS -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS (CONTINUED)

()

(©

(@

The Group entered into banking facility arrangements with 2 (2024:
1) banks, pursuant to which the Group’s land and buildings in Hong
Kong with carrying values of HK$39,443,000 (31 March 2024:
HK$20,000,000) were mortgaged by way of a first legal charge,
as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities, actual or
contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to those banks.

The Group entered into a banking facility arrangement with a bank,
pursuant to which the Group’s land use right and construction in
progress in the Mainland with carrying values of HK$26,464,000 (31
March 2024: HK$27,356,000) and HK$90,925,000 (31 March 2024:
HK$90,657,000), respectively, were mortgaged as securities for all
owing by the Group to that bank.

As at 31 March 2025, pledged time deposits of the Group
denominated in Renminbi and totaling equivalent to approximately
HK$58,309,000 (31 March 2024: HK$294,143,000) have been
pledged to secure standby letters of credit relating to cross border
treasury arrangements (note 22).

33.

B mERME(E)

BEEER @)
(b) AEEMEMR (20244 : —K) BT HRT

(d)

BEEMELH  BUTH  NEENUE %
TEIREC A 5 AL BRE BB 39,443,000 7T (R
20243 A31H : ##20,000,0007T) E&H
B R AB IR - LUER (P BE) K
EBMARERZIBITZMBEERRKBEEK
B2 AR -

RAFER  AEEERE KBTI VRITEER
BELHE - BT ARERERAES A
126,464,000 (202443 A318 « B
27,356,0007T) & ## 90,925,000 7T (}2024
F£3A318 : #B#90,657,0007T) FEARME £
(s A I A 2 AR A AR B 4 R R L 4R
TR EER 2 IR -

M2025F3A31H - REBUARBIERENM
R ABAI A1 58,309,0007T (202443 A 31
H : ##294143,0007T) 2 BB THERE
VEIRIR - DAERISSRTT 8 08 (= A B fE s 5
Bz B (KisE22) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

34. COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group had the following capital commitments for property,
plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period:

()

BEL - BRIEER

Contracted but not provided for

The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 March 2025. The future lease payments for
these non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$1,588,000 (2024:
HK$3,430,000) due within one year and HK$75,000 (2024:
HK$4,287,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

220

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year ended 31 March 2025:

() REELFRRE
(i HET—HEERR

(i) Purchase from related companies
(ii) Sales to a related company

Balances due to these related companies amounted to
HK$57,831,000 (31 March 2024: HK$77,665,000).

These related companies are fellow subsidiaries of Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited, a preference shareholder of Partner
Logistics Limited (“Partner Logistics”), whose board of directors
is controlled by Mr. Tommy Tse, the ultimate controlling party and
substantial shareholder of the Company.

34,

35.

KeEHELTH
(@) AEENRBEPALEDE  BELZENER
AEPEIR
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
22,167 22,888
(b) M2025F3A31H REBAEHFAHBEHS

BHREAD ZETAREMNBEESONEK
RAEFEA—FARERHE1,588,000
7T (20244 : #B#3,430,000T) ME—-&
FRFDN R B 750007T (20244 « B
4,287,00070) (BIEEEME) ©

BEALRS
() BRERAPBHRERHEMBELFHZLZHI A

EENEZE2025F3A3NBILFERBEAL
EITATRS

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
18,478 98,285
4,968 71,378

FERT A ERE A B 5kI8 BB 57,831,000 7T
(20243 A31H : B¥77,6650007T) °

A ERE R A AERosy Blue Overseas
Holdings Limited (X &Partner Logistics
Limited ([Partner Logistics|) BYE 5 A% AL )
Z B ZKB AT o Partner LogisticsE £ & H
HHEIE AR AR RA R REIER AL
REZRE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(continued)

(iii) (@) Mr. Tommy Tse, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp,
an Executive Director of the Company, has been employed by
a subsidiary of the Company as the Deputy Chief Executive
Officer of the Group; (b) Mr. Tse Sui Luen (“Mr. Tse Senior”),
the father of Mr. Tommy Tse and father-in-law of Ms. Yau
On Yee, Annie, Jp, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Founder of the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, remuneration and benefits in kind
of HK$2,419,000 (2024: HK$2,419,000) and HK$1,902,000
(2024: HK$1,596,000) were paid to Mr. Tommy Tse and Mr.
Tse Senior, respectively.

The above transactions in respect of items (i) and (ii) were not
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of business.

The related party transactions in respect of items (iii)(a) and (iii)
(b) above constitute continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the amounts in respect of
items (iii)(a) and (iii)(b) are below the de minimis threshold for the
purpose of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, items (iii)(a) and (iii)(b)
are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

B mERME(E)

35. BEALRS @\

(a)

(%)

(i) (B EBTEEARRET—HEMNE
AREEAAEBEFITHRAE - HEE
SEEBAANBRITEERREL L (x
Far) B (DB mBEERAR
BIE T — B R EEBIAANEEEA
A BEBLEASEELEZR
BRMZELT v5+) 2K o RE
Z2025F3ANHIEFERD B A
I L B2 419,000 (2024 % -
B #52,419,0007T ) K i I i 2k £ B
1,902,0007T (20244 : 11,596,000
T0) BB FE P FIZS o

RS )RR IR E RIS AT
TR —EHERERS - AAFEERS -
SR B B LRI R E R
7

FHIE B (i) (a) R (i (b) Z BEA LR B K
FTHRABUAEMATEZHERERS - ;A
RIEE (i) RGNS REEN EHRRIE
T4A. 76 R RIRFA /K - HUIEE (i(b) AT &
FEBEREIE FESEZ - RETRAZ
FIBEERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 35. BEALRS @)
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: by AEEFZEEAEMSE :
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Short term employee benefits SHRERA 7,582 1,136
Post-employment benefits EREER 36 36
7,618 1172
Further details of directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments are EERFTETBRAEZNEE—SFHFBHRY
included in note 9 to the financial statements. TEMRMIFED ©
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2025

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

2025%F
BBEE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RE SR A AR
ZBBEE
HK$’000
BT
JE W BR FX 38,188
BEEENK - B ERER R
HihEE WG ERE 42,930
EEATEEER 58,309
RENRESEEY 129,378
268,805
p =N
Financial liabilities
at fair value through Financial liabilities
profit or loss at amortised cost Total
BRAREFA R 8 AR A
BRENEREE ARZHHKAE FEE o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT BT T
FERTARR - 307,866 307,866
BETEMENRR
EEERZHMBEE - 116,122 116,122
HLEMX 10,963 - 10,963
FTRIRITER - 720,671 720,671
HEARE - 74,417 74,417
10,963 1,219,076 1,230,039

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 5 9 % W 5 ()

36. BERSEZEMITA

MREMR - ZER2EBMTAREENT :
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

36.

224

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2024

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Pledged time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

36. REHI-Eo,EMIE @)

REBEHR - SEP 22 TAREENT : (B)

20244
WMIsAE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RS AR AR
2B AE
HK$'000
ok e
FE W AR TR 77,447
BEEEMNR - HiEURERR R
EMEECMBEE 75,971
BT TR 294,143
Be RBeEEY 179,967
627,528
BisatE
Financial liabilities
at fair value through Financial liabilities
profit or loss at amortised cost Total
BRARERA REEERAR
BEaremas ANRZ BB E “atE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB BB T
JEAT BR X - 337,981 337,981
B ETEHMPER K&

EEtER MG EaE - 142,792 142,792
HEEMN 16,185 - 16,185
FHEIRTTE R - 1,060,209 1,060,209
HEaE - 116,927 116,927

16,185 1,657,909 1,674,094




37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8% R

B EEC&E)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. 2R IAECAARBERAABEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group'’s financial instruments,
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to

fair values, are as follows:

Financial liabilities
Gold loan
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

MBEE
BESEX
FFERITER

BETHREEABMEAAEERE VB IA
S REBEMPM B TAZEmMELEEAEBWT

Carrying amounts Fair values

IREE AREE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20254 20244 2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
10,963 16,185 10,963 16,185
720,671 1,060,209 720,671 1,060,209
731,634 1,076,394 731,634 1,076,394
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy:

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are measured:

As at 31 March 2025

37. TRIAECZAREBERAAEE

NABEFL

TREJAEENERTIAZAABE

ok

=S E )

TEER -

48

Financial liabilities g S =N
Gold loan =EEEN

BAREBENEZAE:
M2025%F3A31H
Fair value measurement using
AAREEFESE
Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
TR P NG BARE
TiH®E BReE BRI
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—B&) (BZER) (B=BHR)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BET T
- 10,963 -

Total

BE

HK$’000
BT T

10,963
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are measured: (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

Financial liabilities g3 =R
Gold loan BELER

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

EWMITAZAR

BEERAABESH @)

NABESER - (&)

BAR

MN20244F3A318

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
B

M5 MwE
(Level 1)
(F—E#)
HK$'000
BT T

Fair value measurement using

EETEZEE - ()

AABEFESE
Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs

BAA EAREIA

(Level 2) (Level 3)
(BZE#&K) (BE=EHR)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T T BT T
16,185 -

Total

HE

HK$'000
BT

16,185
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MR E(E)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. € ITAZAABERANAE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 March 2025

Financial liabilities BHxas
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEERITER

228

BESH @)
NABESFH (8
BAREEREZEE
20253 A31H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFEDE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
TER BAA BRE
TiHRE BEHE BRI B
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—B&) (BZER) (B=EBHR)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BET T BT T
- - 720,671 720,671




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

MBBEME(E)

>
>
ST
o
H
b
%

R2024F3H31H

Fair value measurement using

ARBEFESE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
o B BEAA EAREIA
M5 MwE HRHE oS e FEE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—E&K) (BEZER) (B=ER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB T T BT T BT T
Financial liabilities b 3=Ri
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEERITER - - 1,060,209 1,060,209

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2024: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to short term
maturities of these instruments.

FALBZAAEEAEZHBRENRE - ERR
F_ERZERY  RBARBHE=ER (2024
FE|) -

EREENERERBSEEY CDEREHEF
A EUERR - AR BEEENR - ERE
WHREEMEEZHBEEME S EELMENRR
R ERZHBREZANBEARERREMRS -
TEARZEFTASNERARIES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

37.

230

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s finance department headed by the Chief Financial Officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for their fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. At the end of each reporting
period, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of the gold loan is based on the open market price of gold.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets included in
prepayments and deposits and non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of
non-current portion of financial assets included in prepayments and
deposits approximated to their carrying amounts. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 was assessed to be insignificant.

37.

EMIAZARBERAIABESR @

HAREN AR BRAETENPBEERARETE
THMTANLREBEFEZBRRMER - B 5B K
BEERMEREVBRAEER EFHEHER UK
EEorEmTANBEZHNEETHERBOE
2HE - HESKERVBRE 2 EHMAAE -

UHEERBBEZAABE BTHRANERY
E DAETERNENR PR IAARBZ S
RANR © (hET AR EERBER TR TIERRR

BE2ERNAABEERAESN AR SERAE

o

SPABNFEMEFRNMHEERRDBD RETE
RITEFFERDBONAABEREBERAFR
PGER  EARRNTANE AR EEAAR
AR REBETRRAESHN  ANFKBEMER
TREEERDBEENAABERAKRE(EE
FRST o 20253 A31H 20243 A31H - K&EE
HERITEFGERB AL D 1T B 4 BRI AT (4 R 8
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank
borrowings, lease liabilities, gold loan, pledged time deposits and cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
change in interest rates had occurred at the year end date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 would
have increased/decreased and the accumulated losses (2024: retained
profits) as of 31 March 2025 would have increased/decreased (2024:
decreased/increased) by HK$6,508,000 (2024: HK$10,602,000). This is
mainly attributed to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate borrowings.

38.

B mERME(E)

HERBEERERBE

AEH T R2eRTARTEAERTER  HES
& E2EF CEREHERERRREEE
e WEEMIAZTIERARDIAAERZXBE
SES  AKBERETHOMUBEENEE W&
Bk B EEBES 2 EKIRR BN IR -

TRTEAMEEZIERABRAMERER - SME R
B EERRBREADHECRR ZFEESBRMALEE
N e R A TRt R 2 IR

FIE R

AEBRRAFBREGFE 2 RABEB ZFXREE
i S T 5 R E g o

AT 2 8EE DT I RR AR E BN F 4B EEM
EX YERARZAEGFENEBIAMESH
ZHERER - ERETEEEABARI2HAXER
B SRATRANREMETRIEZRE  BIERE
AR Z & IR A B B (F H O RT A ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

38.

232

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from
sales and purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US$.
The Group does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Group mitigates this risk by conducting the sales and purchases
transactions in the same currency, whenever possible.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable under the Linked
Exchange Rate System with HK$ and accordingly, the Company does not
have any significant foreign exchange risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of operations. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets is limited to their
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
reviews the recoverability of receivables individually and collectively,
periodically and at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-ending staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2025 and
2024. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets.

As at 31 March 2025

Trade receivables*

Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
- Normal**
- Doubtful**
Pledged time deposits
- Not yet past due
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due

JEMER R
BEEEMR - ERYER
LEMEEZHEEE

— NEE™
BHRIRE B
— W AREH
ReRBEEEY
— WAREH

B mERME(E)

R EE B ERBR (&)

EERR (#)

REBBRREXRFERSE
TREBEALBENEERE I REEEERES
Br BAITREBUAHER - RR2024F &

20253 AR ZERDBEDEAER - 2HHT
AUBEENRDAE -

720253 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 R
FEFE 2HRHEEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
SBIEER 2R B3R Bt mE BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETRT BT T BT T BT T
- - - 48,930 48,930
42,930 - - - 42,930
- - 6,847 - 6,847
58,309 - - - 58,309
129,378 - - - 129,378
230,617 - 6,847 48,930 286,394
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. B EMEIEBZERKEBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued) FERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-ending staging (continued) RERABRERDERSIE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 20245 3A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 AT
EEEE > HEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EIFRER EOMER EIMEE Kbz B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT BT

Trade receivables* JEL R SR - - - 89,278 89,278
Financial assets included in prepayments,  ‘BIEETERE - EibEKRK

other receivables and other assets MEMEEBMKEE

- Normal*™* —EE™ 75,97 - - - 75,971
Pledged time deposits EHEATHETR

- Not yet past due — AR 294,143 - - - 294,143
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEED

- Not yet past due — WA 179,967 - - - 179,967

550,081 - - 89,278 639,359
- For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * AEE B FEA LT AT FEU AR SRR B - LA
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in HEEAEMRNERBERT RS20 -

note 20 to the financial statements.

o The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other o WEEEEMNK - HtERR R EMEENI S
receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they EEVESHBVEEMBTIZEVBEEZE
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial ERBEVIAERENEEN  RIZEVBEE
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. ZEEEEHERAIER] - TR UHKEEMNE
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be BEEEWEAE[THEE] -

“doubtful”.
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B mERME(E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. Hi#EMEEEEZREX (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk mEE 2R R
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade AEEREMNEMNER WK aEREEMEMNK
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, LEFTER  FERTER =2ExX - -HEARE
interest-bearing bank borrowings, gold loan and lease liabilities, and also UEFReTEEEAERDESRR - AEE 2
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly BREABTHERTHELE KX EOREAEREH
monitor its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants ZHRERHERITZER  BREESEHRER
and its relationship with its banks to ensure that it maintains sufficient WRAFSHBENMESRTZARERE  UEMNHE
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major HEERRBARBEST K -
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the PRMERR - AEBIREFTNERFTERBFEZ
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as BB aE s BERNT
follows:
On demand
or less than
1 year 1to 5 years Total
REREER
RIFELUT 1855 PR
2025 20254 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Trade payables FESTERER 307,866 - 307,866
Financial liabilities included in BEEEMERNTKE
other payables and accruals EErERZMEaE 116,122 - 116,122
Gold loan EFELER 10,963 - 10,963
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BIRITE K 700,718 45,285 746,003
Lease liabilities HEAE 50,537 24,593 75,130
1,186,206 69,878 1,256,084
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38.

236

MHEREERE

Z M BUER (

E.r‘

E.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) REELRR (&)
On demand
or less than
1year 1to 5 years Total
RERER
HIFLAT 18254F 1BzE
2024 20244 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETFT BB T T
Trade payables FERTERK 337,981 - 337,981
Financial liabilities included in BETEMENRE
other payables and accruals EAERAZUEERE 142,792 - 142,792
Gold loan =R EN 16,185 16,185
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & 2 RITE R 609,032 524,222 1,133,254
Lease liabilities HEEE 77,197 44,793 121,990
1,183,187 569,015 1,752,202

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand
clause in the amount of HK$129,717,000 (2024: HK$422,527,000) were
repayable within one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The
loan agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and therefore,
for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount was
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
these bank loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and
they consider that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance with
the maturity dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation
was made considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of
approval of the financial statements; bank waivers were obtained before
the end of the financial reporting period for breaching certain financial
covenants; the lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has
made all previously scheduled repayments on time.

HZE202583A8231H  AEBREREEKRRZ
RHEZ A BE129,717,0007T (20244 : B
422,527,0007T) * IR ERWIERER —FRE
B -ZENBEESREREEGR  BTRITE
IR RERBE R ESR(EEZER - Bt Eult B Hi AR
MZERZ BB EAIREREE] -

&8 Ll gaR %?IT R RITETERI2
BARKERZEBEER ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁm?’%kﬁﬁfn}«ﬁ—r

iﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁé%m’rﬁ%ﬂ’] 'HEEM,EJa I RHE E E A
TR AEERAMBHRERZER 2 HHBAMR
ZS‘EI B ERERNCHATERNE TER
RmBFRITHE O RERNERARE BT ER
BRZBR -



38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital using net gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
divided by total equity of the Group. Total borrowings include interest-
bearing bank borrowings and gold loan. The net gearing ratios as at the
end of the years were as follows:

Total equity BB

Total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents — EEERBE RBELZED
and pledged time deposits LEEBETHFR

Net gearing ratio FRERE

38.

MBBEME(E)

M mEEEE R ERBEEK #®)

BEARER
AEEBATE Y TBEEARBAEERHELY

EBZREN  UHFKRRZERLE  UXIHAZE
B RIG IR 2 (BE -

AEBEEBREBERERE  WRBLERREE)RAE
MEEZRBRSEHEFELRE - BEFHIRAEE
RER  AEETERAEANRIRGZ2ERE - EQ
BARTBREREIEITHR

FEENAFAELEERER - AREENEE
ERReRReEBYREBMENER - BRUAE
HAE REEEREAERTERETEEZER -1
WERRFAELEOT -

2025 2024
20255 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
353,222 552,962
543,947 602,284
154.0% 108.9%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 39. Bt#iRRsREk

(a) Information about the statement of financial position of the (a) ARATHHBARTBENBERRAT :
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BB
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE

Interest in subsidiaries NG 2 350,162 513,19
350,162 513,119

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments and deposits BRREES 254 268
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEEY 276 297
530 565

CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and accruals Hip R R ERE R (3,597) (2,493)
(3,597) (2,493)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEFE (3,067) (1,928)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERREARE 347,095

NET ASSETS 347,095
EQUITY

Issued capital (62,296)
Reserves (448,895)

TOTAL EQUITY (347,095)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 BEEE 202596 30 BHEOEN 2] T3 o
June 2025.
Yau On Yee, Annie, Jp ER 22 & (4 #4+) ) Director %

)

)

)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 39. Bt #iRRIRk (@)

(CONTINUED)

(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

At 1 April 2023
Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024
Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2025

72023%4 A1H
ZEEREEERE

R2024F3A318 K
2024F 4718
AEERHEBAHE

202543 A31R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEME(E)

(D) ARBZFHEEBELT

Share Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total
BRiniaE ERRH REBRF B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BETT BT T
122,0M 14,770 491,292 628,073
- - (179,178) (179,178)
122,01 14,770 312,114 448,895
- - (164,096) (164,096)
122,01 14,770 148,018 284,799
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEMECE)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

@

(i)

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve includes the difference between the
aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired pursuant
to the group reorganisation and restructuring.

Other reserves include statutory reserve, exchange
fluctuation reserve and asset revaluation reserve. Statutory
reserve is appropriated from the profit after taxation of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC, while exchange fluctuation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
Exchange fluctuation reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the material accounting policies set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The asset revaluation reserve arose
from the changes in use from owner-occupied properties to
investment properties.

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

240

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 30 June 2025.

39.

40.

B RS AR R #R 3k (®)
(o) REEMERE®
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEHMHGHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling ANEBRBEREPMBMEE 2 EEREE - BEMIEER
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the MEE##Ez @ RIFECAHZEERTBHRELEEY &
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, ¥ 48 (2@EMA) - HHWTF -

is set out below.

RESULTS ¥
Year ended 31 March
BE3ANBLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20244 20234 20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T BT T BT T
TURNOVER F S 1,712,297 2,654,627 2,590,936 2,767,788 2,648,600
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX B#Hial (B5#E) &F (166,139) (347,822) (47,177)
Income tax expense FristiE A (31,660) (26,524) (24,366) (45,088) (43,078)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEE (F#), &7 (197,799) (374,346) (44,089)
Attributable to: S -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE ZE PN (197,752) (374,198) (71,435) 15,546 (43,980)
Non-controlling interests SEIERR IR RS 47) 148) (108) (132) (109)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZEE (F#8), 2F (197,799) (374,346) (44,089)

241



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

AEFBKBEE(E)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Issued capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

242

FRBEE
MBEE

nBEaE
FRBEE

AEFE
BETIRA
(i

EA/NCIE/ SN
FEIEHERAREE
FEIE IR AR R M

TR

BE  BERFERBRRES

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244 20234 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
367,225 488,620 497,098 371,349 310,730
1,314,972 1,872,652 2,347,120 2,335,818 2,220,290
1,682,197 2,361,272 2,844,218 2,707,167 2,531,020
(1,236,304) (1,233,606) (1,259,588) (1,571,121 (1,703,964)
(92,671) (574,704) (691,166) (88,001) (485,100)
353,222 552,962 893,464 1,048,045 941,956
(62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,296)
(291,729) (491,429) (831,762) (986,183) (879,91
(354,025) (553,725) (894,058) (1,048,479) (942,207)
803 763 594 434 251
(353,222) (552,962) (893,464) (1,048,045) (941,956)




Owner-occupied Properties

EREEEYES

Address

b

Private Car Parking Space Nos. 43-50 and 73, Basement, and
Lorry Car Parking Space Nos. 1-6, 11and 14, st Floor Summit
Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEOWRAEI0ONEEIHAEEIZ-50RK
TIRAFERBA L2165 - 1R4FEE RSN

Units AT - A7, B, Front and Rear Portion,
Storeroom No.3 and 5, Ground Floor;
Units AT- A3 and B, Ist Floor;

Unit E - H, 2nd Floor, and

Units F - K and Flat Roof, 3rd Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEOMRAEI0OFAEETIHAE
MTA-ATER - BB - AIAE S - IRSHRDE
—BA-AZE RBEN  ZIBE-HER R
B KERTE

Flat A, 21st Floor, Block 7, Parc Palais, No.18 Wylie Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BBNEEBIBEEBIETENEAZR

No0.248 Fuyong Village, Shawan Town, Panyu District,
Guangzhou

ENTERRD ERBRNIBRERK 2405

Unit ATon Level Tand 2, Block 2, Heng Chang Garden, Beijing,
PRC
FEERMEE LR E—EZEAIE

Use
)=

Own use

8A

Own use

8H

Own use

BH

Own use

=Rl

Own use

am

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Gross

Floor Area
(Square Feet)
BEEE
(£AR)

N/A

77170

1,245

377,748

1,654

Percentage
interest in
property

MERELE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

MEME

Tenure Type
FHNDE BE
M C

M

M R

M F

M R
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

\

MEBE(E)

Address Use
it JiikeS
6 Flat 01, 23rd Floor, Block F, Beijing Rome Garden, Cao Hui Own use
Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC =]
FEERTHEEEERESER
FE-+=B15Z
Investment Properties
REWSE
Address Lot number
i3 RS

1 Unit C, Ist Floor and Units A - E, 3rd Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEAHRMEIOFELIEAE
—BCEMR=IEA - EBA

2 Units A and B, 1st Floor, Shui Ki Industrial Building, No.
18, Wong Chuk Hang Road, Aberdeen, Hong Kong
BREBBFEMNEBT R EIEAE—BAZBEN

L: Long term lease
M: Medium term lease
C Carpark

I: Industrial unit

R: Residential

N/A: Not applicable

F: Factory
244

Kowloon Marine
Lot No. 40

ABERDEEN INLAND
LOT NO. 343

Gross Percentage
Floor Area interest in
(Square Feet) property Tenure Type
BEHE

(FAR) NEEBLE  FHNIE  EE

Use

itk

Rental

et

Rental

el

N/A:

1735 100% M R

Gross Percentage

Floor Area interest in
(Square Feet) property Tenure
BEHE

(FER) xgsbE FHNIE

16,819 100% M
10,716 100% L

REOBEZY

FHEIEERY

EE s

IXA

FEMA

NER

it

Type

ER






T S L | # ¥ %

VA

FSC

www.fsc.org
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Paper | Supporting
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